INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

Aggregate Shocks and the Formation of Preferences and Beliefs

Paola Giuliano and Antonio Spilimbergo WP/24/195

IMF Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to encourage debate.

The views expressed in IMF Working Papers are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the IMF, its Executive Board, or IMF management.

2024 SEP



IMF Working Paper

Research Department

Aggregate Shocks and the Formation of Preferences and Beliefs Prepared by Paola Giuliano and Antonio Spilimbergo^{*}

Authorized for distribution by Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas September 2024

IMF Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published to elicit comments and to encourage debate. The views expressed in IMF Working Papers are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the IMF, its Executive Board, or IMF management.

ABSTRACT: A growing body of work has shown that aggregate shocks affect the formation of preferences and beliefs. This article reviews evidence from sociology, social psychology, and economics to assess the relevance of aggregate shocks, whether the period in which they are experienced matters, and whether they alter preferences and beliefs permanently. We review the literature on recessions, inflation experiences, trade shocks, and aggregate non-economic shocks including migrations, wars, terrorist attacks, pandemics, and natural disasters. For each aggregate shock, we discuss the main empirical methodologies, their limitations, and their comparability across studies, outlining possible mechanisms whenever available. A few conclusions emerge consistently across the reviewed papers. First, aggregate shocks impact many preferences and beliefs, including political preferences, risk attitudes, and trust in institutions. Second, the effect of shocks experienced during young adulthood is stronger and longer lasting. Third, negative aggregate economic shocks generally move preferences and beliefs to the right of the political spectrum, while the effects of non-economic adverse shocks are more heterogeneous and depend on the context.

RECOMMENDED CITATION: "Aggregate Shocks and the Formation of Preferences and Beliefs" by Paola Giuliano and Antonio Spilimbergo.

JEL Classification Numbers:	E00, P00, Z1
Keywords:	aggregate shocks; preferences; beliefs
Author's E-Mail Address:	paola.giuliano@anderson.ucla.edu; aspilimbergo@imf.org.

^{*} Paola Giuliano (UCLA Anderson School of Management, NBER, CEPR, and IZA) and Antonio Spilimbergo (International Monetary Fund and CEPR). They would like to thank David Romer and five anonymous referees for comments that greatly improved the paper. We also thank Omer Akbal and Adriano De Ruvo for excellent research assistance. The views expressed herein are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the IMF, its Executive Board, or its management. Any errors are the responsibility of the authors.

WORKING PAPERS

Aggregate Shocks and the Formation of Preferences and Beliefs

Prepared by Paola Giuliano and Antonio Spilimbergo

Contents

I.	Introduction	3
II.	Historical experiences and the formation of preferences and beliefs	4
	2.1. Shocks as belief-twisting events	
	2.2. Experience-based learning	
	2.3. Formative-age hypothesis	
	2.4. Sociological theory of generations	6
III.	What preferences and beliefs are altered by aggregate economic shocks?	7
	3.1. Recessions	8
	3.2. Inflation experiences	13
	3.3. Trade shocks	14
	3.4. Taking stock: Aggregate economic shocks, lower preferences for redistribution, and	
	the rightward shift in political preferences	17
IV.	Non-economic aggregate shocks and the formation of preferences and beliefs	19
	4.1. Migration shocks	19
	4.2. War	22
	4.3. Terrorist crises	26
	4.4 Pandemics	30
	4.5. Natural disasters	32
Со	nclusions	34
Tal	ple	
	Overview of papers on shocks and preferences and beliefs	38

I. Introduction

The Global Financial Crisis and the COVID-19 pandemic are unique events in most living people's lifetimes, as was the Great Depression over 90 years ago. What legacy will these shocks leave? Will they leave different marks on different generations? The direct economic and social scarring will be large and persistent, but the effects on preferences and beliefs may be even more long-lasting. After all, the Great Depression had long-term effects on beliefs and attitudes decades after the direct economic effects had waned. Americans whose political views were formed during the Great Depression eventually grew up to support the Great Society of the 1960s. Many observers view the legendary German aversion to inflation as a legacy of the hyperinflation faced more than a century ago.

The economics profession has recognized the importance of preferences and beliefs for social and economic outcomes, including long-term growth, the performance of political regimes, and—more recently—the ability to respond to the COVID-19 emergency (Guiso et al., 2006; Algan and Cahuc, 2013, 2014a, 2014b; Alesina and Giuliano, 2015; Giuliano and Rasul, 2020). But what determines preferences and beliefs? This question has been investigated both theoretically and empirically for a long time, but only the use of large surveys and—more broadly—of new datasets on individuals' preferences has allowed a systematic analysis. Recently, the role of large aggregate shocks has attracted particular attention both because shocks help explain new trends (such as the rise of populism and anti-globalization) and because shocks help test alternative theories or conjectures concerning the formation of preferences and beliefs. Understanding the origin of preferences and beliefs is also crucial for policy. Roth et al. (2022) study the relevance of beliefs about the debt-to-GDP ratio to the demand for government spending and taxation. Settele (2022) examines the effect of people's beliefs about the size of the gender gap in the United States on the demand for policies to mitigate it.

The importance of shocks in forming beliefs has been long recognized also outside economics. One of the most famous examples in literature is Tolstoy's *War and Peace* which describes the conflict between generations with different values and beliefs. These values and beliefs differed across generations depending on the shocks, including wars, especially when experienced at a young age. Sociologists have also long recognized the importance of shocks on the formation of beliefs characterizing different generations (Mannheim, 1952). Historians and political scientists have used the sociological theory of generations to explain the formation of collective memories, the effect of the Chinese Cultural Revolution or the Great Depression, the rise of the feminist and civil rights movements, and new social norms such as attitude towards same-sex marriage.

Politicians organize political campaigns along generational lines. With American voters' party loyalty now determined more by cultural identity than by class interest, generations are becoming increasingly important and so are the shocks that shape them. Policymakers, aware that shocks such as trade and immigration disproportionately affect specific generations, often tailor policies to address these generational impacts.

The purpose of this survey is to review what the economics profession has learned about the effects of aggregate shocks and, more broadly, what they reveal about the deep mechanisms of preference and belief

¹ Ronald Brownstein "Is Gen Z Coming for the GOP?" The Atlantic, June 8, 2023.

formation. We review the literature on the relevance of aggregate economic shocks, whether the period in which they are experienced matters, and whether they permanently alter preferences and beliefs. The evidence suggests that aggregate economic shocks permanently change various types of preferences and beliefs, ranging from political preferences to risk preferences to trust in institutions. The effect of shocks experienced in young adulthood is stronger and longer lasting.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 covers frameworks, from a variety of disciplines, that could explain the effects of shocks on preferences and beliefs. We review the sociology literature on the theory of generations, the social psychology literature on the age periods relevant for the formation of preferences and beliefs, and the economics literature on shocks as belief-twisting events and on the learning from experience models. In Section 3, we move to the empirical literature documenting what types of preferences and beliefs are altered by aggregate economic shocks and under which circumstances we observe a permanent change, as well as the magnitude of these effects. We discuss the main empirical methodologies, their limitations, and their comparability across studies, with plausible mechanisms whenever available.

In Section 4, we review the literature on personal experiences of non-economic aggregate shocks such as migration, wars, terrorist attacks, pandemics, and natural disasters. Section 5 summarizes our conclusions and highlights avenues for future research. Table 1 provides a summary of the papers reviewed in this article, organized by type of shock and by the affected preferences and beliefs.

II. Historical Experiences and the Formation of Preferences and Beliefs

This section reviews four approaches, taken from various disciplines, to explain why economic shocks can have long-lasting effects on preferences and beliefs. Standard models in economics have assumed that people are endowed with stable preferences (Stigler and Becker, 1977); that is, choices are influenced by experience and circumstances, but the underlying preferences are not. However, both historical examples and recent insights from behavioral economics and psychology suggest that individual experiences can indeed affect preferences such as those related to politics, social policies, risk and patience, and trust in government and in the financial market (Lowenstein and Angner (2003), Malmendeier and Nagel (2011), Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b), Stevenson and Wolfers (2011), Algan et al. (2017), Guiso et al. (2024).)

2.1. Shocks as belief-twisting events

A stream of literature has looked at shocks as "belief-twisting" events. Friedman and Schwartz (1963: 673) argued that the Great Depression "shattered beliefs in a 'new era'. The contraction instilled an exaggerated fear of continued economic instability, of the danger of stagnation, of the possibility of recurrent unemployment." Their main idea is that extreme events can cause fundamental shifts in beliefs by creating a mood of pessimism that affected financial markets for a long time. Cogley and Sargent (2008) formalized this intuition in a model in which the Great Depression altered confidence in common beliefs, generating pessimism. They then studied how pessimism together with Bayesian learning could explain the market price for risk. The persistence in the model is a result of the long time it takes to correct the pessimistic beliefs induced by a shock through the observation of macroeconomic data. The model is consistent with the idea that

the Great Depression created a "Depression generation" that behaved differently even many decades after the Depression ended. Although the authors study the Great Depression, the core idea of a belief-twisting event could apply equally to the persistent effect of other shocks on beliefs.

2.2. Experience-based learning

Malmendier and Nagel (2011, 2016) have produced a large body of evidence for a model of learning in which people learn from experience. In traditional economic thinking, people form beliefs by updating information. In a learning from experience model, individuals, instead of using all historical data, tend to give more weight to data experienced during their lifetimes, while neglecting data from too far in the past. This model has two important implications: the strength of updating does not depend on time but on age; and young people update their beliefs in response to news more strongly than older ones, because recent experience accounts for a greater share of their total lifetime experience.² Malmendier (2021a, 2021b) provides an overview of the literature on how experience-based learning matters for economic and financial outcomes such as stock-market participation, inflation expectations, consumption, home ownership, and mortgage choice (Malmendier and Nagel, 2011, 2016; Malmendier and Sheng Shen, 2024; Malmendier and Steiny Wellsjo, 2020). We review only their results regarding preferences and beliefs.

2.3. Formative-age hypothesis

A literature in social psychology hypothesizes that personal experiences have a permanent effect on the formation of preferences and beliefs. There are three groups of theories related to the time periods that matter for the formation of preferences and beliefs: the impressionable-years hypothesis, the increasing-persistence hypothesis, and the lifelong-openness hypothesis.

- ✓ Impressionable-years hypothesis. Core attitudes, beliefs, and values are mostly formed in early adulthood (the so-called "impressionable years") and do not change much afterwards. Evidence of significant socialization has been found between ages 18 and 25 (Krosnick and Alwin, 1989). Several studies document that the historical environment during the impressionable years shapes one's basic values, attitudes, and worldview (Greenstein, 1965; Hess and Torney, 1967; Newcomb et al., 1967; Easton and Dennis, 1969; Dennis, 1973; Cutler, 1974; Sears, 1975, 1981, 1983).
- ✓ Increasing-persistence hypothesis. People are malleable and more responsive to the social environment when they are young, but their malleability decreases with age, due to a "decline in energy and loss of brain tissue, to disengagement and a decrease in interest in events distant from one's immediate life, and to the accumulation of friends who share similar world views" (Glenn, 1980).
- ✓ *Lifelong-openness hypothesis*. People are highly malleable throughout their lives and constantly alter their attitudes in response to the social environment (Brim and Kagan, 1980).

Among these hypotheses, the main distinction is between the lifelong-openness hypothesis, which posits that people are flexible throughout their lives, and the remaining two, which posit that belief formation chiefly takes place in young adulthood. The latter two differ slightly on the degree of malleability at other ages,

² Their empirical analysis indeed indicates that people suffer from recency bias, meaning the tendency to put too much weight on recent experience.

with the impressionable-years hypothesis proposing that it drops just after the impressionable years and then remains low while the increasing-persistence hypothesis proposes that it decreases gradually throughout the rest of one's life. These last two theories agree with the experience-based-learning model that young people are more sensitive to new experiences than older people because they have less past experience on which to rely, whereas the belief-twisting-events model does not make specific predictions with regard to how far along in one's life a shock is experienced.

Insights from other disciplines could also help explain why young adulthood is relevant for the formation of preferences and beliefs. Recent literature on neurological development shows that the adolescent brain differs anatomically and neurochemically from the adult brain. In the developing brain, the volume of grey matter in the cortex gradually increases until about the age of adolescence, then sharply declines as the brain finds some neuronal connections superfluous during adulthood. The "synaptic tagging and capture" hypothesis (Frey and Morris, 1997) postulates a connection between experience and the neurological foundation of memory. An emotionally powerful experience induces a more stable connection between synapses, making it more likely to be remembered (Richter-Levin and Akirav, 2003; Talarico et al., 2004; Nisbett and Ross, 1980; Weber et al., 1993; Hertwig et al., 2004; Simonsohn et al., 2008). To the extent that a stronger experience could induce a stronger connection when young, this could also explain why experiences during young adulthood could potentially be more impactful.³

2.4. Sociological theory of generations

The sociology of generations, much more descriptive than the theories described so far, helps explain how some eras are distinctive in terms of political and cultural values or how certain political parties become more prominent during specific periods, indirectly contributing to the idea that cohort experiences matter for the formation of beliefs and preferences. Classic work by Mannheim (1952) and Bourdieu (1993) describes some of the social characteristics of different generations and argues that a cohort develops the character of a generation because of the socioeconomic and historical environment of their youth. Mannheim does not define the age interval in which a cohort becomes a generation, but seems to suggest "the age of 17, sometimes a little earlier and sometimes a little later" (Mannheim, 1952: 300). He also seems to suggest age 25 as the typical endpoint of major generational differences, therefore proposing an age range consistent with the idea in social psychology that late adolescence and early adulthood are the most important periods in forming political preferences. This is also consistent with views in developmental psychology that adolescence and young adulthood is the period in which individuals learn about society, whereas earlier years are more important for other tasks such as language acquisition (Braungart, 1984). Mannheim also points out that because only knowledge "personally gained in real situations . . . sticks," (Mannheim, 1952: 296), even very important political events and changes before one is born or old enough to be aware of them do not leave a clear mark, in line with learning from experience models. Examples of generational changes include the political participation

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

³ Laudenback et al. (2019) find confirmation of this hypothesis by looking at the long-term effects of living under a Communist regime on attitudes toward financial markets. Using data from Germany, they find that being exposed to positive "emotional tagging" induces East Germans to invest more in companies from Communist countries and less in American companies. Negative emotional tagging produces the opposite result.

of young adults in the Civil Rights Movement of the late 1950s and early 1960s and the effect of the Great Depression on economic and political attitudes.⁴

There is no systematic empirical evidence on the theory of generations. The only evidence comes from asking interviewees to remember the major national or world events or changes of the past 50 years and then showing that the pattern of these specific memories is consistent with the hypothesis that there is a specific age range in which the recollection of events is strongest. In 1985, Schuman and Scott (1989) asked a sample of 1,140 Americans, 18 and older, to remember one or two national or world events or changes of the past 50 years that seemed especially important. World War II and Vietnam were the events most frequently recalled, followed by space exploration, the assassination of John F. Kennedy, the Civil Rights Movement, the nuclear threat, advances in communication and transportation, and the Great Depression. The authors find a peak for the ages 16–24 for World War II and 15–27 for the Vietnam war, very close to the 17–25 range suggested by Mannheim and by the impressionable-years hypothesis. For most of the other major events, memories were associated disproportionately with the period in which responders were in their teens or early twenties, confirming the idea that adolescence and early adulthood is the most important period for the formation of political memories.

In sum, various disciplines, including political science, economics, social psychology, and sociology, have emphasized the importance of individual experiences of aggregate shocks in the formation of preferences and beliefs. However, these various hypotheses differ in the emphasis on the effect of timing (for instance, shocks experienced during one's formative age or recently) and the extent of persistence of the effect of aggregate shocks.

III. What preferences and beliefs are altered by aggregate economic shocks?

In this section, we review how the experience of recessions, trade shocks, and inflation impacts preferences and beliefs. Theoretical models treat preferences and beliefs differently. Some cultural values, such as the level of trust or risk preferences, are considered more primitive characteristics embodied in preferences. At the same time, parents transmit beliefs to their children, which are continually updated as parents gather information from real-world experiences. Guiso et al. (2008) present a model in which parents transmit trust priors to their children, but then transmit updated beliefs later in life after learning from experience. The two interpretations are not mutually exclusive; in Benabou (2008), they interact systematically, with "mental constructs" included in a political-economy model. These mental constructs, in turn, interact with institutions and generate beliefs that could persist.

It is very hard, however, to distinguish empirically between preferences and beliefs. Malmendier (2021b) points out that "it is very hard to distinguish whether we want to capture the re-wiring of our brain following a different experience as the alteration of preferences or as assigning different probabilities to future events". Survey measures do not usually disentangle belief and preference components, making interpretation

7

⁴ When sociologists use the term "generation," they might refer either to a specific cohort (people born in a given year) or to a group of people identified by an historically based social movement. The Civil Rights Movement is an example of a social movement that could identify a generation. This movement may have changed views about race for Americans overall, not just the cohort growing up in the 1960s.

difficult, and different studies have emphasized one aspect over the other. For instance, Luttmer and Singhal (2011), by documenting a correlation between preferences for redistribution among second-generation immigrants and preferences in their countries of origin, seem to support a preference-based interpretation. On the other hand, Alesina and Fuchs-Schundeln (2007) and Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b), by showing that political regimes or macroeconomic shocks can alter the desire for redistribution, implicitly support a belief-based interpretation. In most empirical papers, survey questions do not differentiate between preferences and beliefs. Nevertheless, we will highlight the few instances in which authors successfully identify changes in preferences versus beliefs following a shock.

3.1. Recessions

3.1.1. Political preferences and support for redistribution

Early empirical evidence on the importance of the impressionable years for the formation of political preferences comes from Krosnick and Alwin (1989). They use two panels from the National Election Studies, each divided into age groups: 18–25, 26–33, and so on.⁵ They find that people are more likely to change their political preferences during their early adult years; the malleability drops off immediately after that. Although indicative of the importance of the impressionable years, the study does not control for other covariates and could not disentangle the relevance of cohort versus age effects. Moreover, sample sizes for each age group were relatively small. Finally, because the National Election Study does not interview people younger than 18, the authors cannot test if the period up to 18 is also important in shaping political preferences.

Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b) look at the effect of severe recessions on political preferences and on preferences for redistribution in different life periods⁶. The empirical challenge in detecting the effect of shocks on preferences and beliefs is that a specific cohort could have many shared experiences beyond the shock in question. The authors address this problem by using regional variation in economic conditions based on the place in which a person grew up. They use data from the General Social Survey, which includes both where a participant grew up and where he or she was living at the time of the interview. This strategy allows the authors to control for common cohort experiences, only using regional exposure to recessions while growing up to identify the effects. Linking preferences at the time of interview to past economic conditions helps rule out reverse causality. Overall, the coefficients are identified using between-cohort differences in recession experiences within age groups and years. Finally, linking contemporaneous preferences to the macroeconomic experiences of the region one was living in at age 16 allows the authors to study whether the period of adolescence, before 18, could also matter for belief formation.

Using evidence from the US, they find that people who experienced a recession when young are more likely to vote for a right-leaning party and are less supportive of government redistribution. The evidence supports the idea that preferences are formed during the impressionable years, including some years of

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

⁵ One panel interviewed a sample of 1,132 adults in 1956, 1958, and 1960; the second interviewed a sample of 1,320 adults in 1972, 1974, and 1976.

⁶ Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b) revisit Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2014), retracted from *The Review of Economic Studies* (Giuliano and Spilimbergo, 2023a) because the original results could not be replicated. The new paper extends the coverage in terms of both years and countries and finds, as did Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2014), that the impressionable years are key to the formation of political beliefs, but also documents that preferences move to the political right rather than to the left in response to recessions.

adolescence, and are stable afterwards. The authors' findings are confirmed when they use evidence from the World Value Survey for a large set of countries. Regarding political preferences, the effects are similar in magnitude to the effect of years of education and to that of having annual family income rise from \$1,000–\$2,999 to \$25,000 or more, and they are 50 percent larger than the effect of being unemployed.⁷ The results are similar when the authors look at preferences for redistribution.

Carreri and Teso (2023) employ a similar empirical approach to that of Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b), examining the impact of experiencing a recession during the impressionable years for US members of Congress born after 1911. The authors isolate the impact of a recession using variation in macroeconomic conditions of the state in which the member of Congress grew up, finding that experiencing a recession during early adulthood is associated with a more conservative position on redistributive policies relative to other members in the same Congress. Having experienced a recession is associated with an approximately 0.15 standard deviation increase in ideology score.

The authors rule out selection as a mechanism by finding no difference in pre-treatment characteristics of members affected or not affected by a recession. They also find that the change in beliefs was limited to redistributive policies and did not apply to policies unrelated to redistribution. Finally, the magnitude of the effects is also similar when the authors limit their comparison to within-party variation (17 percent of a standard deviation), helping rule out the possibility that the results are driven by selection into the Republican Party during recessions.

Three other papers, in three different settings, find that financial crises and recessions are associated with support for populist or right-wing extremist parties, but they do not examine differential effects during the life-cycle. The best empirical evidence is provided by Algan et al. (2017). The authors use data on European regions before and after the 2009–2010 financial crisis, finding a strong and robust relationship between unemployment and voting for non-mainstream, far-right, and populist parties, mostly driven by Southern European countries. The analysis is based on panel specifications at the regional level that can account for time-invariant regional characteristics and for time-varying country characteristics. Their specification could still capture other time-varying regional variables, a concern addressed with a 2SLS strategy based on the precrisis share of construction in regional value added as an instrument for regional unemployment. Overall, a one-percentage-point increase in regional unemployment increases the populist vote by one percentage point. The authors also find that it is the severity of the crisis that drives support for populist parties.

More descriptive in nature, De Bromhead et al. (2013) and Funke et al. (2016) use panel cross-country evidence. The former paper examines voting behavior in 171 elections across 28 countries between 1919 and 1939, focusing on support for right-wing anti-system parties during the Great Depression.⁸ The authors find a strong correlation between right-wing political extremism and deep and prolonged contractions: a one standard deviation decline in growth increases the fascist vote share by 1.75 percent. This result is stronger for countries that were on the losing side of World War I, had only a brief experience of democracy, or already had representation of right-wing extremists in parliament. In countries without a prewar history of democracy and

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

⁷ The General Social Survey reports total annual family income in 12 income brackets: \$1–\$1,000, \$1,000–\$2,999, \$3,000–\$3,999, \$4,000–\$4,999, \$5,000–\$5,999, \$6,000–\$6,999, \$7,000–\$7,999, \$8,000–\$9,999, \$10,000–\$14,999, \$15,000–\$19,999, \$20,000–\$24,999, and \$25,000 or more.

⁸ "Anti-system parties are defined by G. Sartori (1976) as parties seeking to change not the government but the system of government. They include fascist and secessionist parties on the right and communist parties on the left." (De Bromhead et al., 2013, p. 378)

with a preexisting fascist party, a one standard deviation increase in growth is associated with a 4.8 percent decline in the extreme right-wing vote share.

In a similar vein, Funke et al. (2016) study the relationship between financial crises and voter behavior in 20 countries over a longer period, from 1870 to 2014, finding a positive association with voting for the extreme right. The authors' interpretation is that voters are attracted to the extreme right's rhetoric, blaming minorities or immigrants. In the five years following the financial crises, the vote shares of far-right parties increased by about 30 percent.

All the papers mentioned so far study free-market economies. Abramitzky et al. (2023) provide fascinating evidence on the impact of financial crises in a socialist context, using data on kibbutzim during the financial crisis of 1989-1996. The authors use Israeli electoral data from 1977 to 2019 and a difference-in-difference methodology, finding that the members of kibbutzim who experienced a more severe crisis moved to the political right in national elections. They also use data on attitudes finding lower support for socialist parties and increased support for liberalized labor markets. Finally, they uncover differential effects by age: while different age groups are affected similarly in the short term, the effects persisted only for younger cohorts, a result broadly consistent with the impressionable-years hypothesis. The authors interpret a shift towards the right in a socialist context as resulting from the crisis prompting individuals to question the socialist economic system, leading their preferences to move away from centralized planning and towards liberalized markets.

In sum, the literature has found consistently that an economic shock moves political preferences to the right. This finding holds both for the US (using as identification strategy regional differences in macroeconomic conditions when growing up) and across countries. The evidence also holds in time, spanning almost a century from the rise of fascism to the present. It also holds under different political regimes, from a market economy like the US, to a socialist setting like a kibbutz. Studies also find that the effect depends crucially on the age of the individual when the shock is experienced, thus supporting the impressionable-years hypothesis.

3.1.2. Prosocial preferences

Several papers have investigated how prosocial preferences, broadly defined, might change during periods of economic hardship. The direction of the shock's effect on social preferences is a priori ambiguous. People could become more altruistic towards the poor and the outgroup, as they observe greater poverty during the recession. Alternatively, a recession could make them more selfish and protective of their own personal needs (as shown in an experimental setting by Fisman et al. (2015), more concerned with the interests of their own group, and less open to outsiders.

The papers studying prosocial preferences identify the effects of aggregate economic shocks following Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b). Cotofan et al. (2024) use data from the General Social Survey and regional income while growing up to identify the effects. Bietenbeck et al., (2023) link individual preferences of people in different countries to their recession experience growing up, controlling for country, age and year-of-interview fixed effects.

Cotofan et al. (2024) show that individuals who experienced lower regional income during their impressionable years in the United States tend to be less open to immigrants, whom they perceive as potential competitors for jobs or for welfare. The effect is substantial: a log-point decrease in regional income increases anti-immigrant sentiment by 0.4 points on a five-point scale. This effect is larger than that of a log-point change in household income or of being unemployed. In terms of heterogeneity, the results are more pronounced

among respondents who are less educated or whose fathers are less educated, a result also found in Algan et al. (2017). This suggests that anti-immigrant sentiment could be rooted in labor market competition.

Bietenbeck et al. (2023) study whether recession experiences make individuals more or less prosocial, using individual-level data on prosocial preferences, for approximately 65,000 respondents in 75 countries, from the Global Preference Survey (Falk et al., 2018). Prosocial attitudes are proxied using a principal-component analysis of four measures: trust, altruism, and positive and negative reciprocity. Trust is measured, on a 0–10 scale, as the degree to which respondents assume that people have the best intentions; altruism is the individual's willingness to incur costs to benefit others without expecting a return; positive reciprocity is the willingness to reward others' kind behavior; and negative reciprocity is the propensity to punish others' unkind behavior. The authors find that experiencing a recession during the impressionable years decreases prosocial preferences for the rest of a person's life. Although the authors use a principal component analysis to create a measure of prosocial preferences, analyzing the four traits separately also reveals interesting findings. Trust and altruism are not significantly affected by macroeconomic conditions, in line with Algan et al. (2017), and negative reciprocity is not significantly affected by experiencing a recession when young, in line with Cao et al. (2021). The greatest malleability can be found for positive reciprocity. The magnitude of the effect of experiencing a recession on prosocial behavior is similar to that of being a man rather than a woman.

In sum, the empirical literature consistently finds that experiencing a recession decreases prosocial preferences (broadly defined), even though a priori the effect could go both ways.

3.1.3. Generalized trust and trust in institutions

Because generalized trust and trust in institutions are among the variables shown to strongly affect many economic and political outcomes (Algan and Cahuc, 2010, 2013, 2014a, 2014b), it is unsurprising that research has focused on their determinants. We review here only the literature on aggregate shocks and various measures of trust.

The first evidence was descriptive and provided by Stevenson and Wolfers (2011), who looked at the correlation between the business cycle and measures of trust in various institutions: banks, big business, newspapers, and the US Congress and Supreme Court. The authors run time-series regressions for the United States from 1972 to 2010, individual-level regressions for a large set of countries spanning 2006 to 2010 (controlling for a wide range of observable characteristics, country and year fixed effects), and individual-level regressions using variation in state unemployment in the United States from 1972 to 2010, including controls for observable characteristics, state and year fixed effects. While the analysis provides suggestive evidence of the relationship between recessions and trust in institutions, results could be driven by omitted variables or reverse causality in the time series regressions for the United States, and by other time-varying country or state characteristics in the individual cross-country and state-level specifications.

For the US, they find that a 5-percentage point increase in unemployment is correlated with a 13.5 percentage point decline in the share of people expressing confidence in banks, but only a 4.5 percentage

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

⁹ For the exact wording of the questions, see Falk et al. (2018).

¹⁰ The authors find that negative reciprocity has deep historical roots linked to herding practices in pre-industrial societies that are believed to have generated a value system conducive to revenge-taking and violence.

point decline for trust in Congress, major companies, and business executives. The results for newspapers and the Supreme Court have larger confidence intervals or are not significant. The cross-country analysis broadly confirms the US results: confidence in financial institutions and the national government is very cyclical. However, in contrast to the US findings, the authors find cyclicality for trust in the judicial system, while trust in the media is not correlated with changes in unemployment. In the cross-country analysis, the results are stronger for OECD countries. For the regressions using variation in state unemployment in the United States, they find that trust in institutions is pro-cyclical, although the results are smaller than those estimated for the US or the cross-country analysis, with smaller confidence intervals only for trust in big business and in major companies, an indication that local economic conditions do not significantly alter trust in national institutions.

Algan et al. (2017) study the relationship between economic crises and both trust in institutions and generalized trust, using data on European regions, before and after the 2009–2010 financial crisis. While their regional panel specification accounts for time-invariant regional characteristics and time-varying country characteristics, it may still capture other time-varying regional variables. This concern is addressed through a 2SLS strategy based on the pre-crisis share of construction in regional value added as an instrument for regional unemployment, thereby improving upon the specification of Stevenson and Wolfers (2011). They find that a one standard deviation increase in unemployment reduces trust in parliament by 3.6 percentage points. A similar decline is observed for trust in politicians, whereas the effect is smaller for trust in the legal system. Trust in the police moves in the opposite direction. The fact that crises decrease confidence in political institutions and EU politicians, but not in the police or the United Nations, suggests that the general public blamed politicians for the severity of the crisis. Distrust in political parties and the legal system is particularly pronounced in Southern Europe and most likely related to dissatisfaction with the democratic system (for which the authors also find an effect). Generalized trust remains unaffected, suggesting that cultural transmission or a deeper mechanism of socialization is necessary to alter it.¹¹

The authors provide additional evidence based on individual-level data to understand sources of heterogeneity and to pinpoint the underlying mechanisms. The results are not driven by gender differences, have smaller confidence intervals for older cohorts, and are stronger for respondents without a college degree, in line with the narrative that economic insecurity and lower wages—often due to competition with low-income countries (Autor et al., 2020)—could help explain the decline in trust and a corresponding increase in populist votes.

Ananyen and Guriev (2019) examine panel evidence on Russian regions during the 2009 financial crisis. Using differences in the industrial structure inherited from the Soviet period as an instrument, the authors find that the crisis reduces generalized trust. The effect is of sizeable magnitude: a 10 percent decrease in income is associated with a 5 percentage point decrease in social trust. This contrasts somewhat with Algan et al. (2017) but it may be driven by a decline in personal income associated with the crisis, a possibility the authors do not rule out, leaving it to future research.

In sum, several studies have shown a consistent negative correlation between negative shocks and trust in institutions. This correlation is found in various countries and contexts. The fact that the effect seems stronger amongst individuals with lower educational level is consistent with the literature on populism.

¹¹ This evidence is also in line with Guiso et al. (2016), who find that differences in trust across Italian regions have deep historical roots.

3.1.4. Risk preferences

Malmendier and Nagel (2011) examine the impact of recessions on risk preferences, basing their empirical analysis on a learning-from-experience model. The authors measure risk preferences with survey questions on the willingness to take risks as well as participation in the stock and bond markets, using repeated cross-section data from the Survey of Consumer Finances spanning 1960 to 2007. They then link risk preferences to households' experienced histories of stock and bond returns, calculated since the birth year of the household head. Their specification is based on a weighting scheme which declines linearly until it reaches zero in the year of birth and allows them to include age and time effects and exploit within-cohort variation. Yet the question remains whether the linear weighting scheme is the most appropriate one, as extreme events may have nonlinear effects and specific age groups may be particularly sensitive to experiencing a recession.

Their estimates indicate that returns experienced during one's lifetime are important predictors of risky behavior, particularly for younger generations, for whom recent experiences make up much of their total experience. The economic magnitudes are sizeable: going from the 10th to the 90th percentile of experienced stock returns implies a 10.3 percentage point higher probability of being in the higher risk-tolerance categories, a 10.2 percentage point increase in the probability of stock-market participation, and a 7.9 percentage point increase in asset allocation to stocks. Regarding the bond market, the same change in experienced bond returns implies an 11.4 percentage point increase in the probability of bond-market participation.

Malmendier and Nagel's paper is one of the few to investigate whether the returns experienced during one's lifetime are associated with a change in beliefs in future returns or with a change in risk preferences. The authors do not have information to test whether recessions alter risk preferences, but they try to rule out the preference story in several ways. First, they disentangle the role of stock and bond returns by analyzing their relative predictive power for the risk measures described above, including both bond and stock returns in the specification. They find that stock market participation correlates with stock market return experience, but not with bond returns, whereas the reverse holds true for participation in the bond market. They consider this evidence more aligned with a belief-based story, as a preference story would not imply a differential effect by type of asset (this evidence also helps rule out a wealth effect). Using the UBS/Gallup survey on stock return expectations, they are also able to link expectations about future stock returns to stock return experiences, allowing them to disentangle the roles of beliefs and preferences. They find that a 1 percentage point increase in experienced return is associated with a 0.5-0.6 percentage point increase in expected return. The authors also run the same specification looking at the expected return on the respondent's own portfolio. While differences in expectations could still reflect differences in risk preferences (a risk-averse investor could choose a lower-risk portfolio, also expecting a low return), the authors conclude that the similarities of the estimates with the overall expected return make it unlikely that risk preferences drive the results. Overall, although they cannot completely rule out the preference story, they can conservatively conclude that the beliefs channel plays a significant role.

3.2. Inflation experiences

D'Acunto et al. (2021a) use a learning-from-experience framework to study the role of inflation experiences in shaping inflation expectations. They combine information from a dataset of almost 100,000 households in the Kilts Nielsen Consumer Panel with new survey data that they gathered on experienced and expected inflation from all Nielsen households in June 2015 and 2016. They find a strong correlation between expected inflation and household Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation, but especially "frequency CPI"

inflation.¹² In line with an experience story, it is the price changes consumers encounter more frequently that significantly impact the formation of inflation beliefs, with the association for the frequency CPI being 20–50 percent larger than that for household CPI. Households also pay more attention to price increases than to price decreases (that do not matter). Because the authors are observing both realized and expected inflation within consumers over time, they can rule out the possibility that their results are driven by time-invariant individual characteristics.

As a measure of magnitude, the authors use the R^2 explained from past observed price changes on individuals' inflation expectations, which is 10 percent. One concern is that the R^2 may underestimate the explanatory power, due to noise and measurement error in survey data. To address this concern, the authors re-estimate their model including geography, age, and education as additional controls, which substantially increase the R^2 . For example, when the authors split the sample based on age and education, the R^2 increases to 25 percent. The relationship between inflation experiences and inflation expectations also holds for a much longer period, going back to 1953 (Malmendier and Nagel, 2016). In this paper, the authors isolate the beliefs channel by measuring beliefs about future inflation using the Michigan Survey of Consumers.

In a follow-up paper, D'Acunto et al. (2021b) uncover interesting heterogeneity that can shed light on another important puzzle of consumer behavior: gender differences in inflation expectations. Improving on the previous literature, they find that, within a household, women tend to have higher expectations than men due to exposure to grocery prices. The authors cleverly show that it is not being female but being the main grocery shopper that drives inflation expectations. When they control for the variable indicating if the person is the main grocery shopper, the coefficient on this variable is very significant, while the gender coefficient becomes insignificant. Overall, they find that differences in daily experiences generate differences in beliefs, which in turn lead to differences in behavior.

The learning-from-experience model, when applied to participation in the stock and bond markets as well as inflation, seems to point more to a belief-based story than to a full change in preferences stemming from different macroeconomic experiences.

3.3. Trade shocks

Trade has always been credited with spreading new ideas, including preferences and beliefs. ¹³ Empirically, the main challenge lies in the fact that trade and, more broadly, economic integration are not exogeneous shocks independent of (collective) beliefs. Indeed, the decision to integrate depends on the political system and, ultimately, on preferences and beliefs. Consequently, the literature has paid particular attention to the identification strategy, focusing on two approaches: identifying the effect of trade by exploiting cross-regional variations in endowment and specialization, and exogeneous shocks to trade. ¹⁴

¹² "Frequency CPI" uses the frequency of purchases as the weight in the household's consumption basket, whereas household CPI uses expenditure shares in the base periods as weights.

¹³ The diffusion of the earliest inventions, including the alphabet, followed trading routes.

¹⁴ A well-known example is Autor, Dorn, and Hanson (2013) on the local labor-market effects of import competition from China in the United States.

3.3.1. Political preferences

Most papers use a strategy based on regional variation in exposure to trade to identify the effect of trade on political preferences such as support for populist parties, for Brexit, and for Donald Trump. A reference paper is Autor et al. (2020), which uses (the shock due to) local exposure to Chinese imports to explain increasing polarization in the US. As a measure of shock, they use the change in imports from China, instrumented with Chinese exports to other developed countries to isolate supply shocks exogeneous to the affected region's demand. The authors' main outcome is polarization in political preferences, calculated using several measures of strong-left and strong-right political views. They find that trade shocks increased the market share for the Fox News channel and the probability of electing a Republican candidate to Congress (both indicating a movement toward the right of political preferences). At the same time, the authors observed more ideological polarization in campaign contributions (although, in net, the Republican Party benefits) and a repositioning of majority-White versus majority-non-White regions (trade-exposed counties with an initial White/Black majority were more inclined to elect a conservative/liberal representative at the expense of Moderate Democrats). A 1 percentage point increase in trade exposure led to a 5.2 percentage point increase in Fox News's market share from 2004 to 2012. With respect to the ideological composition of campaign donations, districts with more exposure to trade had a 35 percent increase in both left-leaning and right-leaning donors over the 2002-2010 period. ¹⁵ As for the ideology of congressional election winners, districts more exposed to trade had a 13.2 percentage point higher likelihood of electing a conservative Republican over the 2002–2016 period. Moderate politicians experienced the largest decline (the decline for moderate Democrats was 85.9 percent of the gain for conservative Republicans). Exposure to trade (for an interquartile range increase in import penetration) increased the Republican vote share between 2000 and 2008 by one percentage point. The results are persistent and become slightly larger for the period from 2008 to 2016. The authors conclude that "greater trade exposure induces a net shift in favor of candidates on the right".

Autor et al.'s (2020) approach has been used in several studies in the US and Europe. For instance, Colantone and Stanig (2018c) find that the Chinese import shock led to an increase in votes for nationalist, farright parties across regions in 15 European countries. Similar results are obtained for Italy (Barone and Kreuter, 2021), France (Malgouyres, 2017), the UK (Steiner and Harms, 2023) and Germany (Dippel et al., 2022). Feigenbaum and Hall (2015) find that US legislators vote in a more protectionist direction on trade bills: A \$1,000 increase in import competition per worker causes a 0.7 percentage point decrease in the probability that the district's representative casts a 'right-leaning' or 'free-trade' vote in Congress'. Incumbents do not become more left-leaning overall and the results are more pronounced when the incumbent is worried about reelection. Rodrik (2021) provides a comprehensive review of the literature. None of the above papers analyze whether trade shocks had a differential effect during the individual life cycle.

¹⁵ The authors also consider a longer period, 2002–2016, finding that districts more exposed to trade have 54.8 percent higher campaign contributions from both liberal and right-leaning donors.

¹⁶ Colantone and Stanig (2018a), using data from the British Election Study, find also that Chinese import shocks lead to higher vote share for Brexit.

¹⁷ Dippel et al. (2021) propose a methodology to disentangle the direct effect of shocks on beliefs from the indirect effect through labor market outcomes.

3.3.2. Preferences toward democracy and authoritarian preferences

Tabellini and Magistretti (forthcoming) study if and how more trade and economic integration change attitudes on democracy. The exogeneous shocks affecting trade are improvements in air transportation relative to sea transportation. ¹⁸ Using these instruments in a sample of 74 countries over the period 1995-2020, the authors find that an (exogenous) shock to trade has an economically and statistically significant effect: "doubling exposure to economic integration with democracies increases an individual's attitudes towards democracy by .58 points on a 1 to 4 scale. This is similar to the difference in support for democracy between Mexico and Norway or between Philippines and Italy". They also find strong evidence for the impressionable-years hypothesis, showing that the effect of trade on attitudes crucially depends on the age at exposure—with a peak effect between 20 and 28—and that this effect is persistent. Exposure to trade with autocracies has no effect on individual attitudes.

To pin down the mechanisms, the authors study whether the transmission of democracy is driven by imports or exports. They find that the results are primarily driven by imports, suggesting that the desirability of democracy is the driving factor. Supporting this conclusion, the authors show that the results are driven by higher-quality goods and goods for which bilateral trust between countries is more important. The authors also show that this change in attitudes is reflected in democratic outcomes: an 80 percent increase in economic integration with democracies increases the Polity2 score roughly by four points (equivalent to the difference between Malaysia and Canada in 2010). Trade with democracies enhances democratization particularly when the trade partner does well in terms of economic growth and provision of public goods.

Ballard-Rosa et al. (2021) study the effect of trade exposure to China on the diffusion of authoritarian values in the United Kingdom, defined as "individual preferences for order and conformity and beliefs that these values outcomes should be achieved by force if necessary".¹⁹ Using an original, newly collected survey of 1,913 UK respondents in 2017 and using Chinese imports to the United States as an instrument for Chinese imports to the United Kingdom, the authors find that a two standard deviation increase in import penetration increases authoritarian preferences by one third of a standard deviation. ²⁰ In terms of behavior, the authors also find a four percentage point increase in voting for Brexit.

Colantone and Stanig (2018b)-using data from the European Values Survey over 1988-2008 and Chinese imports to the United States as an instrument for imports to Europe-study the effect of trade on preferences for democracy and liberal democracy (calculated as principal component of the following variables: the importance of equality and equal opportunities, understanding of different people, being free, and following rules) and for authoritarianism (calculated as principal component of four types of values that parents like to transmit to their children, with manners and obedience positively correlated with authoritarianism and with imagination and independence negatively correlated). Import shocks decrease support for democracy and liberal democracy: a one standard deviation increase in income shock decreases preferences for liberal

¹⁸ The authors follow Feyrer (2019) and construct an instrument that exploits the rise in the importance of air transportation, relative to sea, since 1960. Feyrer (2019) used time-varying instruments obtained from gravity equation to estimate the gains from trade, as first done by Frankel and Romer (1999) in a cross-sectional, time-invariant setting.

¹⁹ The authors follow Altemeyer (1981).

²⁰Authoritarian preferences are measured by an index combining measures of aggression, submission, and conventionalism. The results are driven by the aggression component, which, according to the authors, is related to the sense of frustration associated with the inability to achieve previous economic goals because of trade competition.

democracy/democracy by a .058/0.11 standard deviation. Results are stronger for less educated people. The authors do not find any result for "authoritarian personality" as measured by values transmitted to children. The authors' interpretation is that import shocks affect political attitudes but do not shift preferences related to authoritarianism. Another interpretation is that the proxy based on values transmitted to children is faulty.

In sum, the large and growing literature on trade shocks and beliefs is based on well-established and neat identification strategies. Most importantly, it investigates key issues, such as the rise of populism. The conclusions are that trade shocks do affect preferences and beliefs. The effect on beliefs depends on the context and on the interplay with identity, so it is not possible to draw the general conclusion that trade shocks always move beliefs in one direction, although the evidence so far finds them generally associated with a movement towards the political right. Most papers also indicate that the effect of trade on preferences and beliefs is mediated by cultural rather than economic concerns. Most papers study the short-term effects of trade exposure and do not look at differences in exposure across the life cycle, the exception being Tabellini and Magistretti (forthcoming), who find strong and permanent effects of trade on preferences for democracy if the shock is experienced during the impressionable years.

3.4. Taking stock: Aggregate economic shocks, lower preferences for redistribution, and the rightward shift in political preferences

While most papers in the literature address the effect of aggregate economic shocks on preferences and beliefs, it is equally important to examine the direction of such adverse shocks and why they are typically associated with a shift toward the political right.

The effect could go a priori in either direction. Even if one looks anecdotally at the "Great Recession" of 2007–2009, it gave rise to Occupy Wall Street and the Tea Party, two movements with very different views on redistribution. The economics literature has found that recessions are associated with permanently lower earnings (Oreopoulos et al., 2012; Von Wachter, 2020): if changes in beliefs could be generated by no more than a change in economic conditions due to a recession, one should expect a movement of beliefs to the political left and not to the right, as lower income is correlated with a stronger desire to redistribute (Meltzer and Richard, 1981) and a more left-leaning political ideology. A movement of beliefs to the right would therefore be unlikely to reflect unfavorable economic conditions experienced by people growing up in a recession.

Why, then, might negative economic shocks be associated with a shift to the political right? One possibility is that early experiences with economic hardship strengthen people's materialism and desire for security (Inglehart, 1990), whereas growing up during a period of economic prosperity (e.g., the Baby Boomers in the United States) makes individuals more concerned about the quality of life in society rather than economic security or materialism (Inglehart, 1977). Consistent with this story, Cotofan et al. (2020) use evidence from the General Social Survey to study the effect of differences in regional income during the impressionable years on one's attitudes toward jobs. They find that lower regional income while growing up is associated with a weaker preference for a meaningful job and a stronger preference for a high-income job. Similarly, Fisman et al. (2015) find that exposure to a recession makes individuals more selfish and less concerned with social equality than with economic efficiency. Ex ante, the relationship between recession, redistribution, and aversion to inequality could go in either direction. On the one hand, individuals would like to guarantee a minimum level of income for all. On the other hand, they could value efficiency because leaving money on the table could be unattractive in times of hardship. Because Fisman et al.'s work provides experimental evidence before and after the Great Recession, it is not clear whether the results would hold more generally. At the same time, the finding that their

lab results are consistent with the real-world experience of a recession provides informative evidence on how individuals form preferences for redistribution in difficult economic times.

Shayo (2009), Bonomi et al. (2021), and Grossman and Helpman (2021) identify another reason for the shift to the political right: identity politics. These papers emphasize how negative shocks could reinforce group identity and could be associated with higher support for nationalist economic policies, less support for redistribution, and therefore a higher probability of voting for a right-leaning party. People vote not only based on economic self-interest but also on the group or groups with which they identify; preferences concerning trade policy, for example, may therefore reflect not only one's own material self-interest but also the concerns of one's identity group. Negative economic shocks, such as trade shocks, could increase support for nationalist economic policies at the cost of class identification among the relatively poor. Similarly, Margalit (2012) argues that the effect of trade on political preferences does not depend exclusively on the adverse impact of trade liberalization on earnings, but is also mediated by non-economic concerns. He studies the social and cultural effects of globalization; specifically, he hypothesizes that those who oppose social and cultural openness are more likely to have a negative view about trade. The effect is therefore expected to be stronger among the less educated. He finds that individuals oppose economic integration because they believe it can alter the nation and culture with which they identify.²¹ The evidence that people emphasize their group identity during economic crises is also broadly consistent with the idea that altruism towards the outgroup (or universalism) is a luxury good (Enke, 2022).

Another mechanism by which negative economic shocks might reduce prosocial attitudes and be related to a right-leaning ideology is scapegoating. Blaming minorities or immigrants is often part of the rhetoric of right-wing parties and especially of extreme right-wing parties. During crises, people look for someone to blame (Bauer et al., 2021; Cotofan et al., 2024) and this effect is amplified because social sanctions against anti-minority behavior are lower during economic crises (Bursztyn et al., 2022, 2024). Supporting this view, Ferrara (2023) argues that the political impact of trade described in Autor et al. (2020) is mediated by attitudes toward immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities. Similar results are found in Strain and Veuger (2022).²²

Carreri and Teso (2023) provide a different interpretation of why politicians who experienced a recession while young could be averse to redistribution. Their hypothesis is that highly educated people could see the government response to the recession as wasteful spending because they suffer less from a recession (Thal, 2017). Consistent with this story, the authors find—even among their selected sample—that the effects are stronger for politicians who received a bachelor's degree from an Ivy League college and for those whose

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

²¹ After documenting that people worried about the social-cultural consequences of trade are indeed more likely to believe that economic integration is harmful, Margalit (2012) conducts an experiment in the United States in which people are randomly assigned to a control group, a "cultural" prime (a treatment on social and cultural issues such as the perception of changes in Americans' traditional way of life), and a "libertarian" prime (a treatment on the optimal role of the government). Respondents exposed to the culture prime had a more negative view about the impact of economic integration than those in the other two groups, with the results being driven by respondents without college education. People exposed to the cultural prime had a 14 percent more negative view of economic integration than those in the control group. There was no treatment effect among respondents exposed to the libertarian treatment.

²² For other studies about the US, see the review in Rodrik (2021).

parents had elite occupations.²³ This interpretation is in line with Algan et al. (2017) and Guiso et al. (2022), who find that people become more averse to government intervention during recessions.

In sum, the fact that adverse economic shocks move preferences to the right is at odds with the negative correlation between income and a stronger desire for redistribution and a more left-leaning political ideology. Against this backdrop, the literature has focused on how shocks affect beliefs, counteracting the standard income channel. Many other factors seem to be at play, including the desire for stability, the rekindling of a sense of (close) community, identity politics, the desire to find scapegoats, and the fear of increasing fiscal burden. All of this underscores the importance of the narrative through which these shocks are collectively elaborated. It highlights the significance of ideology, which provides the lens through which individuals perceive these shocks and change their beliefs.

IV. Non-economic aggregate shocks and the formation of preferences and beliefs

The theoretical literature reviewed in Section 3 was primarily tested using recessions and, to a lesser extent, trade as negative economic shocks. However, other types of shock might also alter preferences and beliefs. In this section, we review the empirical evidence on the effects of non-economic aggregate shocks, including migration, wars, terrorist attacks, pandemics, and natural disasters.

4.1. Migration shocks

The literature on migration shocks, preferences, and beliefs shares conceptual similarities with the literature on trade. The challenge lies in the fact that migration to a specific place is not exogenous. A migration shock is usually identified using spatial differences and/or instrumental variables, but the identification requires different sets of instruments. While comparative advantage and relative endowments provide theoretical underpinnings for identification in trade, push and pull factors serve as good instruments for immigration. In particular, the well-established fact that immigrants tend to go to regions with preexisting communities of the same origin provides a natural instrument used in many papers (Card, 2001).

4.1.1. Preferences for redistribution and political preferences

Two review articles summarize the effects of migration on preferences and beliefs (Rodrik, 2021; Alesina and Tabellini, 2024). We refer the reader to these articles for analyses of individual papers and report here the main conclusions.

Rodrik (2021) analyzes the impact of immigration on support for populist parties. The main message is that most papers focus on the political backlash to immigration, finding it to be higher when the flow of immigrants increases rapidly and when the immigrants are low-skilled, come from countries with different racial, ethnic, and religious background, and are not spatially integrated. He concludes that, in Europe, the arrival of immigrants has been associated with a proliferation of right-wing, anti-immigrant parties, while the evidence for

²³ Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b) also find stronger results for individuals with more education or whose fathers were more educated and more affluent when the individual was growing up.

the US is mixed.²⁴ In terms of mechanisms, Rodrik points to an economic backlash—related to labor-market competition or the provision of public goods—and to a cultural backlash, with people reacting negatively to an outgroup but not for economic reasons. He also recognizes that most studies simply look at the correlation between immigration and political preferences without analyzing the mechanisms. An exception is Tabellini (2020), who studies the arrivals of Europeans in American cities during the Age of Mass Migration between 1910 and 1930. At that time, immigration was associated with an increase in the probability of voting for a conservative representative. Since immigration did not have any negative economic effect and since the political reaction to immigration was mostly a reaction to Catholic and Jewish immigrants, Tabellini (2020) concludes that the effects on political preferences were the result of a cultural backlash.

Alesina and Tabellini (2024) analyze a larger literature on the political economy of immigration, examining a large set of political and social outcomes. With reference to preferences and beliefs, they conclude that the "standard finding is that, on average, immigration triggers natives' backlash, increases support for anti-immigrant and populist parties, and lower preferences for redistribution". At the same time, the authors recognize how the outcome depends on the characteristics of the immigrants and of the receiving places and on the frequency of contact, finding that immigrants could ultimately reduce the support for anti-immigrant parties and increase preferences for redistribution. As with trade, they use a "cultural interpretation"-group identification and the importance of certain moral values-to explain the support for right-wing parties associated with immigration. We refer the reader to their review for an analysis of the single-country studies on political preferences. For cross-country evidence, Alesina et al. (2021) study how immigrants could influence preferences for redistribution, using regional variation for 16 European countries from 1990 to 2010. They find that the presence of immigrants reduces the desire for redistribution, more so in countries with a more generous welfare state, for voters at the right or center of the political spectrum, and when immigrants come from the Middle East and North Africa. The analysis allows them to rule out that regional time invariant differences drive the results, and further concerns of endogeneity are addressed using a shift-share approach.

All the above-mentioned papers look at the effect of immigration on political preferences in the short run. Giuliano and Tabellini (2023) study the long-term effects by examining one episode of American history—the Age of Mass Migration.²⁵ They find that the historical presence of immigrants increases support for the Democratic Party, welfare spending, and a higher minimum wage; these findings have sizeable magnitudes.²⁶ In explaining why the long-run effects of immigration on natives' political preferences could differ from the short-run effects, the authors argue that immigrants brought with them their own preferences for the welfare state, which in turn were transmitted to natives. This result is also in line with the so-called "contact hypothesis" (Allport, 1954), according to which natives can change their attitudes towards minorities after prolonged

INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

²⁴ For single-country evidence, see Mayda et al. (2022) on the US, Otto and Steinhardt (2014) on Germany, Mendez et al. (2014) on Spain, Barone et al. (2016) on Italy, Halla et al. (2017) on Austria, and Becker et al. (2017) and Viskanic (2021) on the United Kingdom.

²⁵ The Age of Mass Migration refers to the period between 1850 and 1920, when almost 30 million Europeans moved to the United States.

²⁶ A 5-percentage point increase in the historical immigrant share raises the probability of identifying with the Democratic Party by 5.7 percent and support for welfare spending by 2 percent of the sample mean. These results are comparable to the effects of income and race, among the most important predictors of political ideology and preferences for redistribution in the United States.

interactions, which may gradually eliminate initially negative stereotypes. This mechanism of horizontal cultural transmission can help explain the long-term persistence of the effects.²⁷

The papers above discuss how migration affects preferences and beliefs in the receiving countries. The mirror question concerns the effect on the sending communities. There are two possible positive effects when people leave. First, given that migration usually flows from poorer and less-democratic countries to richer and more-democratic countries, migrants can diffuse democratic values back to their countries of origin. Second, they can send back remittances. The possible negative effect is that the most dynamic individuals leave.²⁸

Pfutze (2012) focuses on how migration from Mexico causes a political change by looking at differences across the municipalities of origin. The authors use data from municipal election for the 2000-2002 electoral cycle, and an instrumental variable strategy based on historical migration and distance to the border in El Paso, Texas. They find that "[A] one percentage point increase in the proportion of migrant households raises the probability that a municipality has had a non-PRI²⁹ government by 1994 or 1997 by at least 1.7% and more than 3.4%, respectively". The authors discuss two channels that could help explain the observed effect. One is information about democratic institutions passed by the receiving to the sending country through migrant social networks. The other is the possibility that remittances, by increasing voters' income, reduce clientelist relationships between the government and its constituents (or else, clientelist transfers would have to increase because of higher income).

Barsbai et al. (2017) study how political preferences in Moldova were influenced by the emigration following the Russian crisis of 1998. The authors use vote share for the Communist party in the parliamentary election of July 2009. The explanatory variables are the prevalence of emigration to the West and East in 2004. Since there was no emigration from Moldova before the Russian financial crisis of 1998, the variables can be interpreted as changes in migration from 1998 to 2004 (the authors control for each community's electoral preferences before the onset of migration). They find that the departure of one percent of the community to the West is associated with an approximately 0.7 percentage point decrease in the share of Communist votes in 2009. An opposite—but weaker—effect is found for emigration to the East: a 1 percentage point increase in eastward migration increases the share of Communist votes by about 0.4 percentage points. The authors propose information transmission and cultural diffusion as the primary mechanisms.

In sum, most papers on the effect of migration on natives' attitudes find that migration shocks increase support for right-leaning parties, at least in the short run. This result is consistent with the idea that "shocks" trigger a sense of community, which often forms the basis for a negative backlash. However, none of these papers study the differential effects of experiencing a migration shock in different life periods. In the long run, the results are more nuanced as immigrants bring new values as they integrate. Methodologically, papers examining how migration affects natives' preferences share several similarities. They often use regional

²⁷ In line with a mechanism of horizontal transmission, the authors find that the results are stronger when intermarriage and residential integration are more common. Bursztyn et al. (2024) also find that being exposed to immigrants (in their case, Arab-Muslim immigrants) for an extended period can reduce negative stereotypes and increase contact.

²⁸ For a discussion, see Pérez-Armendáriz and Crow (2010).

²⁹ The Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI) is the old state party.

³⁰ The unit of analysis is a community, which has an average population size of 3,793 inhabitants.

variation and a previous stock of migrants as instrumental variables to address the endogeneity of migrants' destination.

4.2. War

A literature on the effects of exposure to wartime violence on people's preferences and beliefs has recently emerged, thanks to the availability of new individual-level data on conflict and post-conflict societies. The studies cover different countries and different types of war, from civil wars to interstate wars, and are based on both surveys and experiments. The outcomes studied can be categorized as (a) cooperation, collective action, and political participation, (b) generalized and political trust, and (c) in-group versus out-group preferences. Most studies look at the short- or medium-term effects of wars; the few exceptions examining the long-term effects are reviewed at the end of this subsection. There is no systematic study on differential effects of exposure to war during the life cycle.

The most comprehensive reviews of research on war and social cohesion come from Bauer et al. (2016) and Fiedler and Rohles (2021). Both reviews cover different methods, including survey reports, the study of behavior in lab experimental tasks, and observational data. Bauer et al. (2016) review evidence from 16 studies, covering over 40 countries, and do a meta-analysis to quantify the effects. They group the results into six main outcomes: (a) social group participation (including participation in local social clubs, sports teams, and community organization); (b) community leadership and participation (participation in local meetings, volunteering for community work, and being a community leader or organizer); (c) in-group preferences; (d) out-group preferences and prosocial behavior in experimental games; (e) voting in local and national elections; and (f) knowledge of and interest in politics. All the measures are combined in a summary index. The authors find that war can lead to cooperation with an effect of 0.08 standard deviations, concluding that there is a positive but moderate effect of war on preferences and beliefs. For the specific subsets of variables, they find positive and statistically significant effects for participation in social groups (0.11 standard deviations), community leadership and participation (0.16), prosocial behavior in experimental games (0.17), and voting and knowledge of politics (0.02 and 0.06), but zero effect on trust. One interesting aspect of the analysis is that when they split the results by prosocial behavior towards the in- or the out-group, they find that the results are driven by cooperation with the in-group (0.25) but find no significant effect on the out-group. So, while the authors conclude that war is associated with prosocial behavior, it is important to note that the prosocial behavior driving the results is toward the in-group.

Fiedler and Rohles (2021) identified 39 relevant articles and reviewed evidence on generalized and political trust, together with in-group preferences, where the in-group is defined as those belonging to the same family, village, class, or ethnic group. As in Bauer et al. (2016), they find war generally associated with an increase in in-group cooperation. They also find a decline in trust (whereas Bauer et al. (2016) find zero effect) and in political trust, on which Bauer et al. (2016) have almost no evidence.

To explain the effect of war on preferences and beliefs, Bauer et al. (2016) review economic, evolutionary, and psychological theories and categorize the explanations into three groups:

Changes in constraints, economic payoffs, and beliefs. People invest in social capital because other assets are destroyed and investment in physical and human capital has become more difficult. The war experience can change individuals' beliefs, leading to different paths of persistence in the effect of the war. If most people change their beliefs, a new long-run cooperative equilibrium will emerge, but if only a subset of the

population experienced the war, the overall community won't move to a new equilibrium and even the people affected will find their beliefs converging back to the original equilibrium.

Change in parochial norms and preferences. Insights from evolutionary anthropology suggest that intergroup competition—of which war is an extreme form—can favor the appearance of social norms that promote success in intergroup competition and of cultural beliefs that favor in-groups. To the extent that local norms prescribe cooperative behavior, individuals more exposed to war should become more prosocial. For this interpretation, the definition of an in-group is very relevant. Civil wars can reinforce co-ethnic pro-sociality while reducing between—ethnic-group social capital. External wars can reinforce the sense of national identity.

Change in general preferences and other psychological explanations. Wars are linked to depression, which could reduce people's desire to interact with others. At the same time, people could respond to trauma by reconsidering what is important in life, including family and relationships. The literature has not yet produced much systematic evidence. Political scientists have shown how the experience of injustice can increase preferences for collective action.

A reading of the overall literature by Bauer et al. (2016) suggests that war violence influences individual social preferences, with suggestive evidence that these changes can be parochial. Below, we provide a summary organized by preferences and beliefs, using evidence from the original surveys and from subsequent papers.

4.2.1. Cooperation

The broad conclusion from Bauer et al.'s (2016) survey is that exposure to war can foster cooperation and prosocial behavior. Most evidence comes from wars (both civil and interstate) in Sierra Leone, Uganda, Burundi, the Republic of Georgia, Israel, and Nepal. The only study looking at whether war has a stronger effect in specific periods of a person's life is Gneezy and Fessler (2012). Using experiments conducted before, during and after the 2006 Israel-Hezbollah conflict, the authors show that living under an ongoing external threat temporarily increases the willingness of senior citizens to reward cooperation and punish non-cooperators.

4.2.2. In-group preferences and political participation

Most of the evidence on war concerns in-group preferences. Changes due to war violence might lead to favoring one's own group rather than to social and political participation in general. For civil wars, the main idea is that they would strengthen co-ethnic pro-sociality while destroying between–ethnic-group social capital. Conversely, an external war might reinforce the sense of identity, especially for a population that already has it. Most studies use a difference-in-differences approach coupled with an instrumental variable strategy to solve endogeneity concerns.

Among the studies reviewed in Bauer et al. (2016), Bauer et al. (2014)-using evidence from social-choice tasks administered to children and adults differentially affected by the 2008 Georgia conflict with Russia over Ossetia and the 1991-2002 civil war in Sierra Leone-find a developmental window between the ages of 7 and 20 during which individuals form in-group preferences. Rohner et al. (2013) examine the effect of the Lord's Resistance Army insurgency (1986–2006) in Uganda on ethnic identity and in-group ties. The authors address endogeneity concerns in two ways: first, they exploit variation in spatial and ethnic intensity of fighting,

using ethnic and spatial fixed effects.³¹ Second, they exploit an exogenous external political shock, resulting from the US declaration that the rebel groups in Uganda were considered terrorist organizations after September 11, 2001. This political shock differentially affected geographical areas, with stronger effects near the border with Sudan. Using the distance from Sudan as an instrument for the number of fighting events, the authors find that people living in districts experiencing more violence report a strong increase in ethnic identity and in-group ties. Hadzic et al. (2020), published after the Bauer et al.'s (2016) survey, use community-level ethnic voting data and a difference-in-differences identification strategy based on the 1995 Bosnia civil war to study the effect of exposure to violence on ethnic voting. The authors find that war increases ethnic vote share, reduces the willingness to have friends from different ethnic communities, increases trust within the same ethnic group, and fosters the beliefs that ethnic parties are necessary in the political system. Gehring (2022), using a difference-in-differences approach and the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2014 as an exogenous variation in the military threat to member states of the European Union, find that a stronger external threat from Russia increased European identity and trust in European institutions, with stronger effects for older people who had experienced Russian control during Soviet times. The effects are large: the difference between pre and post treatment for high-threat states is 17 percent of a standard deviation (more than three-quarters of the pre-treatment differences in identity between member states of the European Union). On political participation, De Luca and Verpoorten (2015) study the effect of the Lord's Resistance Army insurgency on civic and political participation (measured by meeting attendance, electoral turnout, and frequency of political discussion). Using a difference-in-differences approach and an instrumental variable strategy based on the distance to Sudan interacted with the year dummy (following Rohner et al., 2013), they find an increase in civic participation in terms of political discussion and meeting attendance but no effect on electoral turnout.

4.2.3. Generalized trust and political trust

Most studies find that wars erode generalized trust. Fiedler and Rohles (2021) refer to Rohner, Thoenig, and Zilibotti (2013) and De Luca and Verpoorten (2015), who use evidence on Uganda, and to Alacevich and Zejcirovic (2020), who use evidence on Bosnia and Herzegovina. Interesting evidence on the medium-term effect after the civil war in Tajikistan (1992–1997) is provided by Cassar et al. (2013). The authors conduct trust games and collect survey measures of (a) political attitudes, (b) preferences for participating in impersonal exchange and for market liberalization and membership in groups, (c) collective action, and (d) political participation, more than a decade after the end of the civil war. The authors find that war-related violence hampers trust within localities, decreases willingness to engage in impersonal exchange, and reinforces kinship-based norms of morality. Gilligan et al. (2014), however, find-using lab-in-the-field evidence combined with matching-that the Nepalese civil war (1996–2006) was associated with more altruistic giving, public good contributions, investment in trust-based transactions, and willingness to reciprocate trust-based investments.

³¹ The authors use data from the Armed Conflicts Location Event Data (ACLED), which contains information about the location of conflicts and the rebel groups and militias involved in each conflict event, allowing them to control for county and ethnic fixed effects.

Fiedler and Rohles (2021) review the literature on war, noting that only a few studies systematically analyze the effect of conflict on political trust. Most find a negative relationship, but it is hard to generalize their findings because they look at different types of conflict. The negative effects mostly come from interstate conflicts, whereas the positive or null effects come from intrastate conflicts. Additionally, studies vary with respect to the period for which trust is measured, ranging from several days to several years after the conflict, making it hard to draw meaningful conclusions.

4.2.4. Long-term effects of war on preferences and beliefs

Only a handful of studies investigate the long-term effects of war on preferences and beliefs. Using evidence on interstate conflict, Conzo and Salustri (2019) study the effects of World War II on generalized trust in 13 European countries, exploiting regional within-country variation in combat exposure, and finding a decrease in trust among adults exposed to violence in childhood. Exposure to at least one conflict episode during childhood decreased trust by 4-5 percent and decreased the probability of carrying out voluntary/charity work by 6.3 percentage points.

Adhvaryu and Fenske (2023) use a difference-in-differences approach, where the treatment variable is the respondent's exposure to conflict between the age of 0 and 14. They use data from 17 African countries spanning the 1946-2005 period, without distinguishing between conflict types. The authors create 10 indexes: voting, collective action, contact with political figures, refusal to pay bribes, interest in politics, deference to authority, support for democracy, support for equality, support for the rule of law, and trust. They find that, in the case of Africa, being exposed to a war up to age 14 does not influence political engagement or several measures of preferences and beliefs. They suggest two reasons: the importance of resilience in overcoming traumatic events and post-traumatic growth.

Besley and Reynal-Querol (2014) study the long-term effect of war on out-group trust, exploiting variation between and within countries, and using evidence on recorded conflicts for 18 African countries during the precolonial period between 1400 and 1700. They show that countries that experienced historical conflicts between 1400 and 1700 have significantly lower out-group trust, a higher sense of ethnic identity, and less national identity.

Tur-Prats and Valencia Caicedo (2020) look at the long-term effects of the Spanish Civil War (1936–1939) on social capital, voting behavior, and collective memory. They examine the case of Aragon in Spain, where they use a regression discontinuity design along the historical front line. Their findings show that areas formerly occupied by the Republican side vote more for the center-left today, while those where Nationalist troops were stationed vote more for the right. The magnitude is substantial, in the order of 10 percent of the vote share. The authors also find that violence against civilians reduces trust and trust in institutions associated with the Civil War, attributing this decline in trust to reduced political engagement. They argue that collective memory has worked as a reinforcing mechanism of transmission.

Looking at the Italian Civil War and Nazi occupation of Italy in 1943-45, Fontana et al. (2023) study the long-term effects of war on voting for the Communist Party. As an identification strategy, they use a Regression Discontinuity Design along the "Gothic line", the battlefront where the Germans and the Allies remained for over six months, because of exogenous factors, such as weather conditions. The authors find that, north of the line, where the Nazi occupation was longer and harsher, the vote share for the Communist party was higher (about 9 percentage points in the 1946 election). Their hypothesis is that political groups that contributed to victory were strengthened by the war. This result persisted until the late 1980s-early 1990s. To understand the

mechanism behind the persistence of the effects, the authors conducted a survey of 2,500 individuals living in 242 municipalities within 50 km from the Gothic line, finding that the memory of the civil war was stronger north of the line and among left-leaning individuals.

One difficulty in studying the long-term effects of war is disentangling the changes in preferences and beliefs from the effect of economic damage and loss of human capital. Berman et al. (2023) make progress in disentangling the two by considering the 1942 bombardment of Ellwood, California, by a Japanese submarine. This attack produced little economic damage and no casualties, which minimizes the direct channel. The authors use a difference-in-differences approach exploiting the distance from the shelling before and after the attack. By examining newspaper content, the authors find an increase in fear words, especially in articles using Republican rhetoric and in Republican-leaning newspapers. There was also a conservative shift in local political preferences in the presidential and gubernatorial elections. The effect persisted long after the war and was not driven by a change in the composition of the population due to migration or to a change in turnout. The authors' interpretation is that the observed long-term effects are due to a preference shift.

4.2.5. Risk preferences

Experiencing a war can also alter risk preferences. Voors et al. (2012) use evidence from 200 respondents in 35 randomly selected communities during the civil war in Burundi from 1993 until 2003, finding that the war was associated with an increase in risk-seeking preferences, with a standardized beta coefficient of 0.26.³² Using geocoded evidence from Afghanistan from 2002 to 2010, Callen et al. (2014) elicit risk preferences under certainty and uncertainty, finding that risk tolerance is mostly observed under uncertainty. In their view, fear induces individuals to have stronger preferences for certainty, most likely because they feel the need to exert control. The emphasis on control may explain the link between violence and risk preferences.

Overall, most studies of the influence of war on preferences and beliefs focus on the short- and medium-term effects. It is hard to draw conclusions with the existing evidence, since most studies have focused on a single country—typically, a developing country—and the conclusions are usually a function of country-specific economic and ethnic factors. More research is needed to study the long-term effect of war on preferences and beliefs. There is no systematic evidence so far on the differential effects of war on different periods of a person's life.

4.3. Terrorist crises

Terrorism is the use or threat of violence against noncombatants to obtain a political or social objective by intimidating a large audience beyond the immediate victims (Enders and Sandler, 2012). The use (or threat) of violence, the unpredictability of terrorist attacks, and their high visibility are meant to maximize the emotive impact. Terrorism is thus unique among the shocks considered in this survey because it is intended to influence preferences and beliefs.

Chronic terrorism and occasional terrorism have very different effects on preferences and beliefs. Spilerman and Steklov (2009) argue that the adaptation effects are very different in places such as Israel and Northern Ireland, that have experienced long spells of terrorist attacks than in places where terrorism is more

³² The standardized beta coefficient indicates how one standard deviation increase in war exposure translates into a standard deviation change in risk preferences.

occasional, as in Western Europe and the United States. In the former case, the effect of an additional terrorist attack on preferences and beliefs is attenuated by psychological adaptation. In the latter case, the psychological effect is larger, similar in some respects to the effect of a large natural disaster. We review country studies for both types of country.

Political preferences and trust in government are the preferences that received most attention in the literature. Methodologically, the discrete and unexpected nature of terrorist attacks lends itself to the application of regression discontinuity design, which several studies use.

4.3.1. Political preferences

Given their much-lower frequency, the effects of terrorist attacks have been less systematically studied in a cross-country setting; most papers look only at specific cases. One exception is Akay et al. (2020), who consider all terrorist events in Germany, the UK, and Switzerland between 1994 and 2013. The authors use individual level data (person x interview) on political preferences merged with information on the terror events that occurred the previous day in the world, taken from the Global Terrorist Database.³³ The estimation uses daily fluctuations in terror intensity and voting intention, after controlling for individual characteristics, individual fixed effects, and year, month and country-specific region of residence fixed effects. The identification strategy relies on the absence of non-random attrition in interviews and the absence of seasonality in party preferences or a type of seasonality uncorrelated with a potential seasonality in word terror intensity (for which the authors find no evidence in their data). They find that terrorist attacks increase support for conservative parties because those parties usually promise more homeland security and take a tougher position on terrorism. Using the mean values for terror incidents or fatalities to quantify the effects, the authors find that terrorism leads to an approximately 0.19–0.35 percentage point increase in conservative vote shares, a 0.7-1.3 percent increase over the average. This increase is stronger among older, richer, and more risk-averse people and those living in densely populated areas with a high share of migrants from high-terror countries.

Many studies use a standard difference-in-differences approach based on variations in terrorist attacks across time and space. One of the most representative studies is by Berrebi and Klor (2008) for the case of Israel. They find that "a terror fatality within three months of the elections is associated with a 0.45 percentage point increase in the locality's relative electoral support for the right bloc of political parties." The authors also study the effects of the attacks on polarization. To address this question, they differentiate between local terror fatalities and fatalities occurring outside the voters' localities. For local fatalities, they find that terrorism is associated with support for the right-leaning bloc in places with right-leaning preferences but also in places with left-leaning preferences. After excluding the possibility that the results are driven by selection into voting (there is no effect on turnout), the authors find that the effect holds independently of the incumbent prime minister's party. The authors view this result as supporting the policy-voting hypothesis, according to which support should go to a right-leaning party after a terrorist attack because this party is associated with greater emphasis on deterring terrorism.

When examining fatalities occurring outside the voters' localities, the authors find different effects. In right-leaning localities, fatalities occurring outside voters' localities increase support for the right-leaning party.

³³ The Global Terrorism Database records daily information on all terrorist acts defined as "the threatened or actual use of illegal force and violence by a non-state actor to attain a political, economic, religious or social goal through fear, coercion or intimidation". During the 1994-2013 period, there were around 70,000 terror events.

However, in left-leaning localities, these fatalities reduce the support for the right-leaning party. The overall result is therefore ambiguous for left leaning localities since the local and non-local fatalities have opposite effects on the electorate's preferences. Overall, the authors find that "terrorism increases the support for the right bloc among all localities whose population leans toward the right, and it decreases the support for the right bloc among the vast majority of localities whose population leans toward the left bloc", concluding that terrorism causes the ideological polarization of the electorate.

Gould and Klor (2010) confirm Berrebi and Klor's (2008) analysis regarding party affiliation but go further by examining the willingness to grant territorial concessions to Palestinians. Using repeated cross-sectional individual-level data on the political attitudes of Jewish Israelis from 1988 to 2006 and a standard difference-in-differences approach based on variation in terrorist attacks across time and sub-districts, they find that local terror attacks increase the willingness to grant territorial concessions, with stronger results for individuals who are traditionally right-wing (although this effect is nonlinear, with the position becoming less accommodating beyond a certain threshold). Overall, they conclude that terrorism moves political preferences to the right, but this is because right-leaning parties move to the left in response to terrorism, indicating that terrorism has shifted the political landscape toward a more accommodating position.

For the case of Israel, Getmansky and Zeitzoff (2014) find that the mere threat of a terrorist attack can also lead to a change in preferences and beliefs. Using exogeneous variation across time and space in the range of rockets from the Gaza Strip since 2001, they find that the right-wing vote share is two to six percentage points higher in localities within rocket range.

Kibris (2011) studies the effect of terrorism on voting patterns in Turkey during the 1991 and 1995 general elections. The empirical strategy uses as a district level source of variation the number of casualties of Turkish soldiers and police officers who died in the fight against the terrorist organization Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK). The results indicate that Turkish voters are highly sensitive to terrorism and blame the government for casualties and losses. Exposure to terrorism leads to an increase in the vote share of right-wing parties: "Each additional casualty per hundred thousand voters in the two years before the election costs the governing party/parties 0.5 percentage points. This is a very considerable loss considering that the average number of casualties per hundred thousand voters in the two years before the 1995 election was close to seven, which means in the 1995 election, the losses that the security forces suffered as a result of Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK) terrorism cost the government on the average 3.5 percent of votes at the district level."

Several studies use repeated cross-sections and rely on the timing of interviews - conducted either before (the control group) or after the attack (the treatment group) - as a source of identification. The underlying idea is that there is no reason to believe that those interviewed right before the attack should systematically differ from those interviewed just after the attack. Echebarria-Echabe and Fernández-Guede (2006) studied the effects on ideological orientation of the March 2004 terrorist bombing in Madrid. The authors collected data in February 2004 (before the Islamic terrorist attack in Madrid on March 11 2004) as part of a questionnaire designed to study Basque people's attitudes toward different social topics and particularly anti-Arab prejudice. The data collection was then continued after the attack, using a sample balanced in terms of age, gender and social status. The authors found that the attack provoked changes in a reactionary and conservative direction, along with an increase in racial prejudice not only against Muslims but also against Jews, who were not involved in the attack. However, using the difference between voters living abroad who cast their votes before the terrorist attack (the control group) and voters in Spain who cast their votes after the attack (the treatment group), Montalvo (2011) finds that the bombing had a significant and decisive effect on the congressional

elections in Spain, lowering consensus for the incumbent (conservative) party: "[T]he estimated counterfactual percentage of votes for the conservative party ranges, depending on the sustained assumption on the joint percentage of votes for the two largest parties, between 42.7 and 44.4 percent. These findings are substantive since the actual percentage of votes for the conservative party was 37.4 percent."

Brouard et al. (2018) use nine cross-sectional surveys collected between June 2014 and September 2016 to study the effects of terrorist attacks in Paris (2015) and Nice (2016) and compare three hypotheses on how people may change their ideological position after a terrorist attack: the Reactive Liberals Hypothesis, the Terror Management Theory, and the Bayesian Updating Theory. The Reactive Liberals Hypothesis is based on the observation that right-leaning people tend to support social controls, because they experience higher levels of threat, while a terrorist attack—or the threat of one—induces individuals who were not right-wing to switch to the right. The Terror Management Theory posits that while people will try to insulate themselves from fear, independent of their ideology, they will also reinforce their connection to their reference group, which in turn increases polarization. The Bayesian Updating Theory considers the terrorist attacks as a new piece of information on the state of risk in the world. Individuals will update their beliefs according to how much the new information deviates from those beliefs. This theory stresses rationality and voters are expected to shift to the right only on issues related to terrorism. Herory stresses rationality and voters are expected to shift to the right only on issues related to terrorism. For the right is concentrated on issues of security. The authors interpret their results as a confirmation of the Reactive Liberals Hypothesis and the Bayesian Updating Theory.

While a large-scale terrorist attack at home is more likely to have an impact on public opinion, large-scale attacks that occur far away can also generate the fear of terror at home. Finseraas and Listhaug (2013) study the effects of the 2008 terror attack in Mumbai, India, on European countries, using evidence from the European Social Survey and comparing individuals interviewed before and after the attack as a control/treatment group. They find that the attack led to a conservative swing of between -0.01 and 0.43 on the left-right scale, with a coefficient estimate similar to that of the gender gap in the left-right scale. However, this effect is not long-lasting. Schüller (2015) uses individual-level data from Germany to study the effect of 9/11 on political preferences. The author finds that left-wing supporters react by reducing the strength of their support, whereas right-wing supporters react by increasing the strength of their support. The author concludes that the evidence is in favor of the "defensive conservative" hypothesis—namely, that people become more conservative because they value authority, stability, and order—rather than the "worldview defense" hypothesis—namely, that the salience of an attack increases polarization, pushing liberals and conservatives toward the extremes of their own ideology.

4.3.2. Trust in institutions

Perrin and Smolek (2009) look at the effect of 9/11 on trust in government. They attempt to validate the theory of the "rally round the flag effect," first proposed by Mueller (1973), according to which public support for government officials will increase in the presence of an international event involving the United States that is "specific, dramatic and sharply focused" (Mueller, 1973: p. 209). They use a sample of young adults, observed before and after the attack (15,127 observations), to show that terrorist attacks are associated with a change in

³⁴ As a good example, Franchino (2014) uses a Bayesian update approach to assess how attitudes on nuclear energy changed after the 1986 Chernobyl accident.

trust in government. However, these findings mask important race/gender heterogeneity effects, with African Americans, women, and people with less education less inclined to rally than white Americans.

Overall, several studies have analyzed the effects of terrorist acts on beliefs and preferences. In most cases, the fear generated by terrorism shifts political preferences to the right, but with little evidence of a long-lasting effect. Various hypotheses are consistent with this shift of preferences to the right, but the literature has not settled on any hypothesis in particular. None of the papers look at the effect of experiencing a terrorist attack in different life periods.

4.4 Pandemics

The COVID-19 pandemic has stimulated research-although still limited compared to that on other shocks-on the effect of epidemics on beliefs and preferences; specifically, on various aspects of generalized trust, trust in institutions, trust in science, and political preferences.

4.4.1. Generalized trust, trust in institutions, and trust in science

Evidence on previous pandemics offers some insights into the conditions and factors that determine their effect on trust. Aassve et al. (2021) find that the Spanish Flu had permanent negative consequences for individuals' generalized trust. The authors use data from the General Social Survey on the descendants of those who experienced that pandemic and identify the effect of the pandemic using a difference-in-differences approach comparing levels of generalized trust before and after it. A 1 death per thousand increase in influenza mortality is associated with a 1.4 percentage point decrease in trust. To investigate a possible mechanism, the authors compare the effect between countries that were involved in World War I and countries that were neutral. A lower salience of the war in neutral countries might have led their citizens to internalize more the severity of the epidemic, thus affecting attitudes more strongly. In fact, a 1 death per thousand increase in influenza mortality in neutral countries resulted in a 2.2 percentage point decrease in trust.

Aksoy et al. (2024) and Aksoy et al. (2021) have looked at the persistent effect of experiencing a pandemic during the impressionable years on confidence in various types of institutions and on trust in science and scientists, finding that pandemics experienced during the impressionable years erode trust. Using the empirical strategy of Giuliano and Spilimbergo (2023b), they link individual preferences of people in different countries to their pandemic experiences growing up, controlling for country, age and year of interview fixed effects. The effect on trust in government is driven mostly by democracies (as there is no expectation of responsiveness in autocracies) and is stronger for weak governments, aligning with the notion that governments less capable of combating the pandemic tend to experience a greater decline in trust. The negative consequences of epidemics on political trust are reflected in differences in political behavior, reducing the likelihood of voting in national elections, and increasing participation in demonstrations. An individual with the highest exposure to a pandemic has, on average, 5.1 percentage points less confidence in the national government than those with no exposure and the effect is long-term. Since exposure to epidemics during the impressionable years is associated with less future employment and lower future income, the results suggest a potential mediating effect through worse economic outcomes. As for the effect of past pandemics on trust in science and scientists, the authors find that whereas one's view on science does not change, trust in scientists themselves and the benefit of their work is lower. An individual with the highest exposure to epidemics is, on average, 11 percentage points less likely than those with no exposure to trust scientists, with results driven by people with little or no science education. The change in beliefs has consequences, being associated with negative views toward vaccines and thus lower rates of child vaccination.

The results on more recent pandemics are more nuanced and depend on the perceived government response. Fluckiger et al. (2019) study the effect of exposure to the Ebola epidemic in West Africa on trust in institutions. The empirical strategy relies on a difference-in-differences estimation based on pre- and post-epidemic Afrobarometer surveys, addressing endogeneity with a 2SLS approach in which observed Ebola prevalence is instrumented with simulated prevalence. The authors find that exposure to the Ebola epidemic in West Africa enhanced trust in government institutions, including parliament, the president, and the police, particularly when the government responded robustly. The effect size is large: an increase in average Ebola prevalence of one case per 100,000 people raises post-epidemic trust in all three government entities by around 0.15 standard deviations compared to the pre-epidemic era. Given the recency of the epidemic, the estimates are only calculated in the short-run and it is not yet known if there will be a permanent effect.

Bol et al. (2021) surveyed citizens of 15 European countries right before and right after the lockdown during the COVID-19 pandemic. They found that COVID-19—related lockdowns were associated with a three percent increase in trust in government in the short term. This effect was not related to political preferences. The lockdown increased satisfaction with democracy and trust in government by about three percent and support for the party of the prime minister/president by about four percent. The authors' interpretation is a retrospective performance evaluation, according to which citizens understood that strict social confinement measures were necessary and increased their support for those responsible for this policy.

4.4.2. Political preferences and preferences for redistribution

There is less evidence on the effect of pandemics on political preferences and preferences for redistribution. Most papers rely on the use of instrumental variables as a source of identification. Campante et al. (2024) examine the impact of pandemic threats on political preferences and voter turnout by using the Ebola scare as a natural experiment in the United States during 2014. Ebola concerns are measured by web searches and Twitter activity, and the authors use the timing and geographical variation of diagnosed cases in the US in Dallas (Texas), Akron (Ohio) and New York City as a source of identification.³⁵ A one standard deviation increase in Ebola concerns decreased the Democratic vote share by four percentage points in the House elections and by three and four percentage points in the Senate and gubernatorial elections. A one standard deviation increase in Ebola searches decreased voter turnout by about 1.4 percentage points. In terms of attitudes reported by voters, the authors find more negative views about immigrants.

Baccini et al. (2021) study the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the change in county-level voting for Trump between 2016 and 2020. To address endogeneity or omitted variables, the authors include many COVID-19 related controls as well as demographic and socioeconomic variables. Additionally, they employ the share of workers in meat-processing factories as an instrument. The rationale behind the instrument is that meat-processing plants became pandemic hotbeds due to high humidity and the difficulty of maintaining physical distancing in the workplace environment. They find that COVID-19 cases negatively affected Trump's vote shares in 2020, particularly in urban counties, in states without stay-at-home orders, in swing states, and in states that Trump won in 2016. Their counterfactual analysis suggests that, if cases of COVID had been lower than five percent, Trump would have likely won reelection. There was also an effect on mobilization that helped Biden. A county with 100 more COVID cases per 10,000 people reduced its Trump vote share from 2016 to 2020 by an additional 0.12 percentage points on average.

³⁵ The authors show that distance to these places was a strong predictor of Ebola concerns.

Only one paper (Rees-Jones et al., 2022) looks at the effect of Covid-19 on support for unemployment insurance and government-provided healthcare in the United States. The authors use data on attitudes toward safety nets from 2,516 respondents interviewed in June 2020 as part of the Understanding American Study (UAS), an online panel of America households. Experience with COVID-19 is measured using the impact of COVID-19 in the counties of residence together with subjective answers about the pandemic, collected in April 2020. The authors can also control for pre-pandemic political ideology, attitudes toward safety nets, and demographic controls. To study the persistence of the effects, they re-posed questions eliciting support for long-term safety-nets. Respondents living in a county with a one standard deviation higher number of COVID-19 deaths are 8.4 percentage points more likely to support long-term unemployment insurance expansion and 9.2 percentage points more likely to support long-term expansions to government-provided healthcare.

Overall, the heterogeneity of results across different contexts can be explained by the idea that the trajectory a society takes after a major disease outbreak appears to depend on the prevailing social and economic context as well as on the government's response to the crisis. Furthermore, the difference between studies based on current versus past pandemics could be seen as an indication that the short-term and long-term effects may differ. Additionally, only a few studies have looked at whether the effects vary by the life period of exposure.

4.5. Natural disasters

Natural disasters such as earthquakes, tsunami, floods, hurricanes, monsoons, droughts, and heat waves killed over 30 thousand people, affected 185 million people, and caused over \$220 billion of damage in 2022; the death toll in 2022 was about twice the yearly average for the previous 20 years. The literature on the effects of natural disasters on preferences and beliefs is still in its infancy but growing, for several reasons. First, natural shocks are exogenous and precisely dated, attenuating endogeneity concerns. Second, the availability of new databases allows for greater accuracy in identifying who was affected; for instance, it is possible to track the path of a cyclone in a very detailed way. Third, the range of questions that can be studied is very broad, including estimating political preferences, trust in institutions, cooperation, and risk aversion.

4.5.1. Trust in institutions and political preferences

There is no consensus on the effects of natural disasters on trust in institutions and political preferences. The results usually depend on the government's response to the disaster. On one hand, exposure to natural disasters can decrease support for the government, as people tend to blame it and thus develop negative attitudes toward it. On the other hand, such exposure can increase support for authorities due to the aid they provide. The literature has found evidence for both channels. Achen and Bartels (2017) use historical examples from the US to argue that voters penalize the government for natural disasters, including droughts, floods, and even shark attacks. They use state-level voting data from 27 presidential elections (spanning 1896 through 2000) and study the effect of drought on the incumbent party vote, controlling for the incumbent party's previous vote share in the same state, the percentage of the population living in rural areas, and a dummy variable for southern states.

Lazarev et al. (2014) study the effect of the 2010 forest fires on support for the government in Russia. They use a survey of nearly 800 respondents across 70 randomly selected villages. They find higher support

³⁶ These numbers refer to the 387 natural hazards and disasters worldwide recorded in "2022 Disasters in Numbers" (reliefweb.int).

for the government in villages that suffered from the fires, which the authors attribute to the government's aid efforts. Healy and Malhotra (2009), using data on voting behavior in presidential elections, disaster damage, and federal spending for over 300 counties in the US between 1988 and 2004, find that voters reward the incumbent presidential party for delivering disaster relief (a 1 percent increase in relief spending increases the incumbent party vote share by 0.0045 percentage points), whereas disaster preparedness spending does not have a similar effect.

Albrecht (2017) uses a quasi-experimental quantitative design, where respondents are divided into a treatment and control group based on the time of the interview, to examine 10 cases of natural disasters in Europe. The author finds that individuals' political attitudes and trust in institutions were largely unaffected.

4.5.2. Cooperation and risk attitudes

Other studies have looked at the effect of natural disasters on cooperation and risk attitudes. Using an experimental approach, Whitt and Wilson (2007) focus on predominantly African American evacuees from New Orleans who were relocated to Houston-area shelters in the weeks immediately after Hurricane Katrina. 352 evacuees participated on adaptations of dictator and public goods experiments in small groups across six different Houston evacuation shelters. They find strong evidence of group cooperation. Cassar et al. (2017) conduct a series of experiments in rural Thailand and find that the 2004 tsunami led to long-lasting increases in risk aversion (20 percent more), in prosocial behavior (18 percent more trusting), and in impatience (20 percent more). More generally, studies usually find an increase in risk aversion after a disaster. Cameron and Shah (2015) show that people previously exposed to floods and earthquakes in Indonesia exhibit greater risk aversion, which is driven by a change in beliefs about the likelihood that these shocks can occur and how severe they can be. Said et al. (2015) match surveys and behavioral field experiments and find that people who experienced flooding in Pakistani villages in 2010 do exhibit higher risk aversion but with significant individual variation, with personal experience of a flood generating a mitigating effect. Chantarat et al. (2019) study the impacts of the 2011 mega-flood on preferences, subjective expectations, and behavior among rice-farming households in Cambodia, finding an increase in risk aversion and altruism, but also less impatience and greater trust in friends and local government. The disaster also affected subjective expectations of future floods.

Not all studies find that the experience of a natural disaster increases risk aversion. Eckel et al. (2009) investigate risk preferences amongst hurricane Katrina evacuees in an experimental setting, simulating gambling. They find that individuals (especially women) increased risk-seeking behavior immediately after Hurricane Katrina, possibly because of mental stress. Brown et al. (2018) study the effect of the 2012 Cyclone Evan on Fijian households' risk attitudes and subjective expectations about the likelihood and severity of natural disasters. They use the path of the cyclone to identify treated and non-treated individuals. They find that the effect of the cyclone shock is mediated by ethnicity. After being struck by Cyclone Evan, Indian-Fijian respondents increased future expectations of losses but iTaukei respondents did not change their expectations about future disaster risk nor their risk attitudes.³⁷ The authors explain this difference by pointing out the "collectivist" nature of the iTaukei social structure with its consequent high level of risk sharing.

Broadly speaking, the literature on natural disasters is similar to that on pandemics in that the effects usually depend on social and individual characteristics and on how successfully the government addresses the

³⁷ "iTaukei estimate that they will incur \$4,381 in losses and damages to natural disasters in each of the next 20 years, on average; for Indo-Fijians, this figure is \$15,044" (Brown et al., 2018).

disaster itself. This calls for more analysis of the psychological mechanisms by which a natural disaster affects preferences and beliefs. Most of the studies have been limited to the short-term effects and do not study whether the specific period of life in which the disaster is experienced matters.

Conclusions

The literature on shocks and beliefs is large and growing, due to a combination of theoretical and empirical advances in the last 30 years. On the theoretical side, the increasing recognition that beliefs and attitudes are key determinants of micro- and macroeconomic outcomes has fueled demand for understanding their determinants. On the empirical side, the growing availability of surveys covering many countries for a long time has made it possible to study the evolution of beliefs; in particular, the effects of shocks on beliefs. Moreover, the attention to identification with the attendant econometric techniques has sharpened the analysis, moving it away from association towards more causal interpretation. Finally, collaboration with other disciplines, including social psychology and sociology, has brought new insights.

Because the topic of attitude and belief formation is so large, we have focused this review according to certain criteria. Following the literature, we focus mostly (but not exclusively) on different forms of trust, political preferences and preferences for redistribution, and risk preferences. These preferences have been extensively studied because they have been found to have deep implications for a variety of outcomes. We review the evidence of the effect of aggregate shocks on preferences and beliefs, outlining (a) insights from other disciplines, (b) theoretical reasons why aggregate shocks could have a permanent effect on preferences and beliefs, (c) whether the period of life in which the shock is experienced matters, and (d) how long the effects last. Table 1 summarizes the main results.

A few conclusions from this literature are clear and consistent across the papers reviewed. First, all evidence points consistently to the fact that shocks do indeed affect beliefs and preferences. This was not a foregone conclusion; economists had long assumed that beliefs and preferences are deeply rooted and not affected by shocks.

Second, the timing of the shock matters. Individuals evolve over time and, consistent with psychology, there is evidence of a "life cycle" of the effect of shocks on beliefs. Social psychology had already studied the importance of a critical age, but its relevance for economic beliefs has now also been confirmed and clarified. Several theories are consistent with this finding and further work will clarify further. The fact that some generations are "marked" by a collective shock is known by sociologists, historians, and marketing specialists, but its implications are less studied in economics.

Third, the effects of shocks on beliefs are long-lasting. This, too, was not a foregone conclusion but is confirmed across many studies. Several historical papers have shown that past events-even very old oneshave had permanent effects on individuals or entire populations. This "long-term scarring" increases the costs of deep recessions, beyond the pure economic costs.

Fourth, negative aggregate economic shocks generally move attitudes and beliefs to the right in the political spectrum. This finding is perhaps surprising because, a priori, a negative shock could elicit demands for protection, redistribution, and a bigger role of the state—typically left-wing policies. But the opposite happens. We review the potential reasons, including an increase in materialism; increased insecurity of one's life making people more individualistic (Inglehart, 1990); scapegoating, as blaming minorities or immigrants is

often part of the rhetoric of right-wing parties, especially extreme ones (Bursztyn et al., 2022, 2023); and identity politics, with negative shocks reinforcing group identity at the cost of class identification and thus resulting in higher support for nationalist economic policies and for reducing redistribution, resulting in turn in higher support for a right-leaning party (Shayo, 2009; Bonomi et al., 2021; Grossman and Helpman, 2021).

Fifth, adverse non-economic aggregate shocks lead to a movement toward the political right, although there is heterogeneity of results across different contexts, depending on the government response to the crisis. This is particularly the case for natural disasters, where the framing of communication and the interaction with previous beliefs shape the disaster's own effects on shocks on beliefs. There is less systematic evidence concerning the time of life in which a non-economic aggregate shock is experienced, with the exception of pandemics, which have the strongest effect if experienced when young.

Sixth, a big question about the effects of experiences on preferences and beliefs is not only their size but also whether they translate into actual behavior. Current literature indicates that this is usually the case. Experiencing a recession, especially when young, is associated with a lower probability of voting for a Democratic president in the United States. A one standard deviation increase in the measure of shock is associated with a 0.017 standard deviation decline in voting for a Democratic president. The effect size is similar to that of years of education (for which the standardized beta is 0.011) and of being unemployed (for which the standardized beta is 0.019) (Giuliano and Spilimbergo, 2023b). Similar results hold across countries (the standardized beta coefficient is 0.021, double the effect of being unemployed (-0.012) and similar to the effect of being a woman (0.029) or of being married (0.024)).

Economic shocks affect financial behavior (see Malmendier (2021a, 2021b) for reviews): people who lived through periods of high stock or bond market returns are more likely to participate in those markets. A 5 percentage point increase in experienced real stock returns is associated with an approximately 10 percentage point increase in the probability of stock market participation and, for stock market participants, an approximately 7 percentage point increase in the percentage of assets allocated to stocks (Malmendier and Nagel, 2011). Macroeconomic experiences also have an impact on managers: CEOs who grew up during the Great Depression rely less on external financing (Malmendier and Tate, 2005) or choose a more conservative capital structure with less leverage (Graham and Narasimhan, 2004).

Experiencing high inflation is correlated with fixed-rate mortgage positions, as real estate investments can better protect against inflation: a 1 percentage point increase in experienced inflation increases a borrower's willingness to pay for a fixed-rate mortgage, with a loss of \$8,000–\$16,000, for the year 2000 (Malmendier and Nagel, 2016; Botsch and Malmendier, 2020).³⁹ Experienced inflation turns out to affect also the behavior of experts who should largely base their decisions on hard information. Malmendier et al. (2021) study the behavior of the members of the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) in the United States since

³⁸ Cross-country evidence also associates recessions with voting for right-wing anti-system parties among European countries during the Great Depression (De Bromhead et al., 2013) and during the 2009–2010 financial crisis (Algan et al., 2017). In the first case, a one standard deviation decline in growth increases the fascist vote share by 1.75 percent. For European countries, a one-percentage-point increase in unemployment is associated with a one-percentage-point increase in populist vote.

³⁹ This evidence also holds outside the US, as people living in countries that experienced episodes of high inflation indicate that one of the main reasons to buy a house is to protect against inflation. Even immigrants in the United States, all facing the common US housing market, have different levels of homeownership because of their inflation histories in their countries of origin (Malmendier and Steiny, 2020).

1951 and find that a personal experience of high inflation matters for their inflation forecasts, their votes during FOMC meetings, and the tone of their statements. A one standard deviation increase in the experienced-based inflation forecast implies a hawkish dissent of about one-third and lowers the probability of a dovish dissent by about one-third.

The growing evidence gathered so far and reviewed in this survey represents a first step in a very promising research agenda. First, a life-cycle theory of belief formation should develop which encompasses the various mechanisms the literature has highlighted. This framework could then be used in a systematic way in macro and political economy models. Political economy models could incorporate heterogeneous generations into standard models of voting and decisions. Large political swings in public opinion, including party realignments, could also be linked to generational effects. While economic theory provides good frameworks on how different life periods could be more relevant for the formation of preferences and beliefs, we still lack a theoretical framework for explaining when we should expect to see one type of response versus another. A broad framework that could consider the ranges of possible responses to a shock and the conditions under which certain types of response can be expected would help to create a roadmap synthesizing the different findings and conjectures.

A life cycle of belief formation calls for stricter collaboration with other disciplines, including social psychology and neuroscience. Using other research methodologies, including experiments, to understand the precise mechanisms would also strengthen the conclusions.

Another interesting research topic is how shocks could alter policies via their effects on beliefs. Interesting evidence in this regard is provided by Mian et al. (2014), who look at the effect of economic crises on political polarization and fractionalization. The authors argue that by altering beliefs and making a country more politically polarized, the shock's effects may last longer due to its impact on the type of macro-responses that a country implements after a crisis. For example, higher post-shock levels of polarization and fractionalization could make it harder to implement the major financial reforms that could help the country recover from the shock.

Finally, the literature has focused on aggregate shocks because they are easier to study than individual-specific shocks. Aggregate shocks can mitigate issues of endogeneity related to the relationship between shocks and preferences and beliefs. Because suffering from a personal economic shock is not random, looking at the relationship between shocks and preferences and beliefs at the individual level could mask issues of omitted variables-unobservable characteristics correlated to both the shock and the preferences and beliefs-and reserve causality. However, looking at the effects of individual-level shocks could produce valuable evidence about the effects of aggregate shocks. For example, knowing how quasi-random shocks to earnings or wealth affect beliefs and preferences would be at least suggestive about the effects of aggregate shocks such as recessions. Similarly, individual-level shocks could help us better understand the mechanisms behind changes in beliefs, especially when there is longitudinal evidence.

Margalit (2019) provides relevant evidence and reviews the literature on how individuals' political preferences change in response to changes in personal circumstances associated with a shock and whether the effect could persist. He concludes that a shock can alter political preferences in two ways. First, it can change individual economic circumstances, which in turn can change political preferences (Meltzer and Richard, 1981). If the shock's effect on an individual's economic condition is only temporary, political

preferences should not change in the short run. But if the effect is long-lasting,⁴⁰ the change in preferences and beliefs might be permanent. Second, a learning process, which induces people to update their beliefs, could permanently alter one's political positions. Deeply rooted preferences, however, should not change as a result of changes in economic circumstances.

The effect of a negative shock on political preferences could go in both directions. It is possible that the need for redistribution will induce people to vote for left-leaning parties (Hibbs, 1977; Korpi, 1983), but it is also possible that people will embrace anti-establishment and more far-right parties (Golder, 2016; Hobolt and Tilley, 2016), often associated with a resurrection of traditional values or with prejudices against groups, such as immigrants, considered responsible for the economic crisis (see Guriev and Papaioannou (2022) for a review). In terms of political participation, voters could become less interested in politics (Schlozman and Verba, 1979) or simply vote against the incumbent, independently of their ideology (Anderson 2007).

We refer the reader to Margalit's (2019) comprehensive review for single studies, emphasizing here only the main conclusions: experiencing personal negative shocks (mostly job losses) increases support for redistribution and reduces trust in the political system in the short term. In terms of voting behavior, voters can move either left or right; little is known about the conditions under which one response or the other could prevail and about the long-term effects of individual shocks on political preferences. The effects of income shocks other than job losses are mixed.⁴²

On consumption decisions, Malmendier and Shen (2020) study how personal, local, or national experiences of unemployment could influence long-term consumption, a phenomenon they call "scarred consumption." Using data from the Panel Study of Income Dynamics, they find that consumption spending is significantly and permanently lower for people who have experienced their own or someone else's unemployment, with the largest effect coming from a personal experience.

In conclusion, the literature on shocks and beliefs is relatively young but has already delivered clear (and sometimes unexpected) results. Understanding the effect of crises and historical experiences on political and economic beliefs is crucial to understand belief formation, but also to inform policy debates on the effects of and best responses to different types of crises.

⁴⁰ See von Wachter (2020) for a review.

⁴¹ Voters tend to punish or reward the incumbent when affected by a shock. For different case studies, see Margalit (2019). In terms of turnout, there are two conflicting effects. On the one hand, people experiencing a negative shock may lose interest in politics. At the same time, participation could increase because people decide to support parties that represent them better or could increase because people decide to vote against the incumbent. The review of the literature in Margalit (2019) indicates that the former effect dominates: adverse economic shocks decrease turnout, while the response to positive economic shocks appears to depend on the source. Income shocks resulting from eligibility for new governmental transfers increase voter mobilization, while those resulting from exogenous factors depress turnout (see Margalit (2019) for references).

⁴² Although most of the evidence concerns the effects of negative shocks, a few papers study the effect of positive shocks, mostly related to winning a lottery as a type of random shock. Most of these studies find that lottery winners experienced a shift in preferences in favor of more conservative parties (see Margalit (2019)).

Table 1: Overview of papers on shocks and preferences and beliefs

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
1.	Giuliano and	Recessions	Political preferences	Political	General Social	Impressionable	Persistent
	Spilimbergo (2023b)		and preferences for	preferences to	Survey 1972-2020,	years	
			redistribution	the right, lower	International Values		
				preferences for	Survey 1980-2020,		
				redistribution	105 countries		
2.	Carreri and Teso	Recessions	Preferences for	Lower	House and Senate	Impressionable	Persistent
	(2023)		redistribution	preferences for	roll call data for	years	
				redistribution	Congresses 76-113		
3.	Algan et al. (2017)	Unemployment	Voting for far-right and	Increase in voting	European Social	No different life-	Contemporaneous
		during 2000-	populist parties, trust in	for far-right	Survey 2000-2014,	time periods	
		2017, focus on	national, European	populist, decline	183 NUTS-2	studied	
		2009-2010	political institutions,	in trust in	regions, 24		
		financial crisis	politicians, legal system	parliament,	countries		
			and generalized trust	politicians and			
				the legal system.			
				No effect on			
				generalized trust			
4.	De Bromhead et al.	Great Depression	Voting for right-wing	Increase in right-	171 elections in 28	No different life-	Contemporaneous
	(2013)		anti-system parties	wing political	countries between	time periods	
				extremism	1919-1939	studied	
5.	Funke et al. (2016)	Financial crises	Voting for extreme	Increase in right-	180 elections in 20	No different life-	Contemporaneous
		1870-2014	right-wing parties	wing political	countries, 1870-	time periods	
				extremism	2014	studied	
6.	Abramitzky et al.	Israel financial	Voting for the political	Move to the	Israeli electoral data	Impressionable-	Contemporaneous,
	(2023)	crisis: 1989-1996	right, support for	political right	from 1977-2019	years	persistent for younger
			liberalized labor				cohorts
			markets				

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
7.	Cotofan et al. (2024)	Regional income	In-group/outgroup preferences	Lower openness to immigrants	General Social Survey 1972-2018	Impressionable years	Persistent effect
8.	Bietenbeck et al. (2023)	Recession	Pro-social preferences	Lower pro-social preferences (altruism, trust, positive and negative reciprocity)	Global Preference survey 2012, 75 countries	Impressionable years	Persistent effect
9.	Stevenson and Wolfers (2011)	Unemployment rates	Confidence in banks, Congress, major companies, big business, the judicial system	US time series: decline in confidence in banks, Congress, major companies and business executives; US state level unemployment: decline in trust in big business and major companies; cross-country: decline in confidence in financial institutions, the national government and the judicial system	Gallup trust in institutions data 1972-2010, Gallup Trust and Honesty data 1976-2010, General Social Survey: 1972-2008, Gallup World Poll 2006-2010, 155 countries	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
10.	Algan et al. (2017)	2009-2010 financial crisis	Trust in institutions and generalized trust	Decrease in trust in institutions, no	European Social Survey 2000-2014; parliamentary and	No life-time period studied	Contemporaneous

							Persistent/
	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	contemporaneous effect
				effect on	presidential		
				generalized trust	elections 2000-2017		
11.	Ananyev and Guriev	2009-2010	Generalized trust	Decline in	Public Opinion	No different life-	Contemporaneous
	(2019)	Russian financial		generalized trust	Foundation Survey	time periods	
		crisis			in 2008-2009 for 66	studied	
					Russian regions		
12.	Malmendier and Nagel	Recessions	Risk-preferences	Increase in risk	Survey of Consumer	Learning from	Persistent effect,
	(2011)			preferences: i)	Finances, 1960-	experience	recent returns
				the willingness to	2007		stronger effects
				take risks; ii)			especially for younger
				stock market			generations
				participation, iii)			
				bond market			
				participation and			
				iv) proportion of			
				liquid assets			
				invested in			
				stocks.			
13.	D'Acunto et al.	Inflation	Beliefs about inflation	Formation of	Kilts Nielsen	Learning from	Contemporaneous
	(2021a)	experiences		inflation beliefs	Consumer Panel,	experience	
				are a function of	2015-2016		
				frequency CPI			
14.	Malmendier and Nagel	Inflation	Beliefs about inflation	Beliefs about	Michigan Survey of	Learning from	Persistent effect,
	(2016)	experiences		inflation are a	Consumers, 1953-	experience	stronger effects for
				function of	2009		younger generations
				inflation			
				experiences			
15.	D'Acunto et al.	Inflation	Beliefs about inflation	Gender	Kilts-Nielsen	Learning from	Contemporaneous
	(2021b)	experiences		differences in	Consumer Panel	experience	
				beliefs about	and Chicago Booth		
				inflation are a	Expectations and		
				function of	Attitudes Survey,		

							Persistent/
	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	contemporaneous effect
				inflation	2015-2016, New		
				experiences	York Fed Survey of		
					Consumer		
					Expectations, 2013-		
					2018		
16.	Autor et al. (2020)	Chinese import	Polarized media,	Import shocks	Community zones	No different life-	Variation at the
		penetration	ideology of campaign	from China	and congressional	time periods	community zone level
			contributors, GOP in	associated with a	district data, 2000-	studied	in import penetration
			Congress, presidential	right shift in	2016. Nielsen Local		
			vote share	media-viewing,	TV View, 2004-		
				greater	2016. Database on		
				polarization in	Ideology, Money in		
				ideological	Politics, and		
				orientation of	Elections, 2002-		
				campaign	2016		
				contributors,			
				increased			
				probability of			
				electing a			
				Republican to			
				Congress,			
				increase in			
				Republican vote			
				share between			
				2000-2016			
17.	Colantone and Stanig	Trade shocks	Voting for nationalist	Increase in voting	District level data for	No different life-	Contemporaneous
	(2018c)		far-right parties	for nationalist,	15 Western	time periods	
				far-right parties	European countries	studied	
					1985-2006,		
					European Social		
					Survey 2002-2008		

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
18.	Feigenbaum and Hall (2015)	Chinese import competition	Voting for the right, protectionism or foreign trade bills	Incumbents vote more to the left, toward more protectionism on foreign trade bills.	Roll=call behavior and electoral outcomes in the US House, 1990-2010	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
19.	Rodrik (2021)	Trade shocks	Voting for nationalist far-right parties in various	Increase in voting for right-wing parties	Review articles from different countries	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
20.	Tabellini and Magistretti (forthcoming)	Trade shocks	Preferences toward democracy	Economic integration with democracies increases preferences for democracy	International Values Survey, 1990-2020, 74 countries	Impressionable years	Persistent effect
21.	Ballard- Rosa et al. (2021)	Chinese import penetration	Authoritarian preferences	Import shocks from China implies stronger authoritarian preferences	Newly collected survey on 1,193 UK respondents in 2017	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
22.	Colantone and Stanig (2018b)	Chinese import penetration	Preferences for democracy, a liberal democracy authoritarian values	Import shocks from China implies lower support for democracy and a liberal democracy but have no effects on authoritarian preferences	European Values Survey 1998-2008	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
23.	Rodrik (2021)	Migration shocks	Voting for nationalist far-right parties in various	Increase in voting for right-wing parties	Review articles from different countries	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
24.	Tabellini (2020)	Age of Mass Migration 1910- 1930	Voting for conservative representative	Increase in voting for conservative representative	Increase in conservative voting for 1910-1930	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous
25.	Alesina and Tabellini (2024)	Migration shocks	Natives backlash, support for anti- immigrant and populist parties, preferences for redistribution	Immigration triggers natives backlash, increases support for anti-immigrant and populist parties, and lower preferences for redistribution	Review articles	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous and long-term effects
26.	Alesina et al. (2021)	Migration shocks	Preferences for redistribution	Immigration lower preferences for redistribution	16 European countries from 1990-2010.	No different life- time periods studied	Contemporaneous effect
27.	Giuliano and Tabellini (2023)	Age of Mass Migration	Preferences for redistribution and political preferences	Immigration increases preferences for redistribution and voting for the democratic parties	Political ideology and preferences for redistribution, 2006- 2020	No different life- time periods studied	Long-term effect
28.	Pfutze (2012)	International migration	Probability of a party in opposition to the former state party PRI in Mexico	Increase in the probability of an opposition party victory	Municipal election for the 2000-2002 electoral cycle	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous- effect
29.	Barsbai et al. (2017)	Migration after the 1998 Russian crisis	Political support for democratic and liberal parties	Decline in Communist vote in the elections of 2009	Change in the share of Communist votes in the parliamentary election between 1998 and 2009	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous- effect

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
30.	Bauer et al. (2016)	War	Social cooperation, 16 studies	Conflicts in different countries	War leads to cooperation and prosocial behavior	No life-time periods studied, with few exceptions	Contemporaneous or medium term effect
31.	Fiedler and Rohles (2021)	War	Generalized and political trust, in-group preferences	Conflict in different countries	Decline in trust and political trust, increase in in-group cooperation	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous effect or medium term effect
32.	Gneezy and Fessler (2012)	War	Cooperation	2006 Israel- Hezbollah conflict	Living under an external threat increases the willingness to reward cooperation and punish non- cooperators	Stronger effects on senior citizens	Contemporaneous effect
33.	Bauer et al. (2014)	War	In-group preferences	2008 Georgia conflict with Russia over Ossetia, 1991- 2002 civil war in Sierra Leone	War promotes ingroup preferences	Effects stronger between the age of 7 and 20	Contemporaneous effect
34.	Rohner et al. (2013)	War	In-group ties	Lord's Resistance Army insurgency (1986–2006) in Uganda	War promotes in- group ties	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous effect
35.	Hadzic et al. (2020)	War	Ethnic voting	1995 Bosnia	War increases ethnic vote share, increase in-group trust	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous effect
36.	Gehring (2022)	War	European identity and trust in institutions	Russian invasion of Ukraine	War increases European identity	Results stronger for older people	Contemporaneous effect

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
					and trust in European institutions		
37.	De Luca and Verpoorten (2015)	War	Civic and political participation	Lord's Resistance Army insurgency (1986–2006) in Uganda	Increase in civic participation but no effect on electoral turnout	No life-time periods studied	Contemporaneous effect
38.	Cassar et al. (2013)	War	Political attitudes, Membership in groups, willingness to engage in impersonal exchange, collective action and political participation	Civil war in Tajikistan (1992- 1997)	War hampers trust within localities, decreases willingness to engage in impersonal exchange, reinforces kinship- based norms of morality	No life-time periods studied	Effect more than a decade after the end of the civil war
39.	Gilligan et al. (2014)	War	Altruistic giving, public good contributions, investment in trust-based transactions, and willingness to reciprocate trust-based investment	Nepalese civil war (1996-2006)	Increase in altruistic giving, public good contributions, investment in trust-based transactions, and willingness to reciprocate trust-based investment	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
40.	Conzo and Salustri (2019)	War	Generalized trust	Exposure to World War II during childhood	Decline in generalized trust in 13 European countries	Early childhood	Long term effects

							Persistent/
	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	contemporaneous effect
41.	Adhvaryu and Fenske (2023)	War	Political preferences	17 African countries with conflict between 1946 and 2005	No effect on political engagement, Afrobarometer 2005	Age 0-14	Long-term effects
42.	Besley and Reynal- Querol (2014)	War	Outgroup trust	18 African countries with conflict between 1400 and 1700	Lower outgroup trust	No lifetime period studied	Long-term effects
43.	Tur-Prats and Valencia Caicedo (2020)	War	Trust and voting behavior	Spanish Sociological research center 1998-2015, voting data from 1977-2016	Lower trust and trust in institutions associated with the Civil War if a person was exposed to the Spanish Civil War	No life-time periods studied	Long-term effects
44.	Fontana et al. (2023)	War	Voting behavior	Italian Civil War and Nazi occupation of Italy, 1943-45	In places where Nazi occupation was higher, the vote share for the Communist party was higher	No life-time periods studied	Long-term effects
45.	Berman et al. (2023)	War	Political preferences	Gubernatorial elections 1934, 1938, 1942, presidential election 1928- 1972	Conservative shift in presidential and gubernatorial elections as a result of Ellwood bombardment in California by a Japanese submarine in 1942.	No life-time period studied	Long-term effects
46.	Voors et al. (2012)	War	Risk preferences	Civil war in Burundi, 1993- 2003	Increase in risk seeking	No life-time period studied	Medium-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
47.	Callen et al. (2014)	War	Risk preferences	Afghanistan	Increase in risk seeking	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
48.	Akay et al. (2020)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Data on political preferences for Germany, the UK and Switzerland, 1994-2013. 70,000 terrorist events from the Global Terrorist	More support for conservative parties	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
49.	Berrebi and Klor (2008)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Polling station data on vote share for different political parties and terror attacks in Israel between 1984 and 2004	Increase in support for right-wing parties	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
50.	Gould and Klor (2010)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Israel National Election Studies, 1988-2006	Increase in support for the right wing block	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
51.	Getmansky and Zeitzoff (2014)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Right-wing bloc vote-share in Israel, 1999-2009	Increase in support for the right-wing block	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
52.	Kibris (2011)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Electoral district level data, 1987- 1995	Increase in support for the right-wing parties	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
53.	Echebarria-Echabe and Fernández- Guede (2006)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Survey data before and after the March 2004 terrorist bombing in Madrid	Increase in support for right-wing parties and increase in racial prejudice	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
					against Muslims but also Jews		
54.	Montalvo (2011)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Terrorist bombing in Madrid before and after March 2004. Voting behavior of people living abroad, casting their votes before the terrorist attack and voters in Spain, casting their votes after the attack	Lower consensus for the incumbent conservative party	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
55.	Brouard et al. (2018)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	Survey from the "Policy Priority Barometer" and "Local Elections" projects, 2014- 2016	Terrorist attacks in Paris (2015) and Nice (2016) moved political preferences to the right	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
56.	Finseraas and Listhaug (2013)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	European Social Survey 2008	Shift in conservative direction on the left- ring wing scale, but not precisely estimated	Not life-time period studied	Short-term effects
57.	Schüller (2015)	Terrorist attacks	Political preferences	German Socio- Economic Panel, 1999-2003	Weaker support intensity among left- wing, higher strength of support among the right wing	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
58.	Perrin and Smolek (2009)	Terrorist attacks	Trust in government	Wave III of the National Longitudinal Survey of Adolescent Health	Trust in all level of government increases after 9/11/2001	Sample of young adults	Short-term effects
59.	Aasve et al. (2021)	Pandemics	Generalized trust	General Social Survey, 1978- 2018	Exposure to the Spanish Flu reduces generalized trust	No life-time periods studied	Long-term effects
60.	Aksoy et al. (2024)	Pandemics	Confidence in institutions	Gallup World Polls, 2006-2018, EM-DAT International Disasters Database.	Lower trust in institutions	Impressionable years	Long-term effects
61.	Aksoy et al. (2021)	Pandemics	Confidence in scientists	2018 Welcome Global Monitor, EM-DAT International Disasters Database.	Lower trust in science	Impressionable years	Long-term effects
62.	Fluckiger et al. (2019)	Pandemics	Trust in government	Afrobarometer, 2012-2015	Increase in trust in government	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
63.	Bol et al. (2021)	Pandemics	Trust in government, satisfaction with democracy, vote for the party of the current Prime Minister/President	Web based survey for 15 European countries between March2- April 3 2020	Increased vote intentions for the party of the Prime Minister/President, increased trust and satisfaction with democracy	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
64.	Campante et al. (2024)	Pandemics	Voting in congressional and gubernatorial elections	US, county level electoral data, 2002-2014	Lower vote share for Democrats	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
65.	Baccini et al. (2021)	Pandemics	Voting for Trump between 2016-2020	Country level data on electoral outcomes	Covid19 negatively affect Trump's vote share	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
66.	Rees-Jones et al. (2022)	Pandemics	Support for unemployment insurance and government provided healthcare	Individual panel level data, June 2020, January- February 2021	Increased support for unemployment insurance and government provided healthcare	No life-time periods studied	Short-term, medium- term effects
67.	Achen and Bartels (2017)	Natural disasters	Voting for the incumbent	State level data for the US on droughts and floods, 1896- 2000	Voters punished incumbent parties	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
68.	Lazarev et al. (2014)	Natural disasters	Support for authorities	Survey questions collected by the authors	Exposure to the disaster increased support to the United Russia Party, the village head, the governor, Putin and Medvedev.	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
69.	Healy and Malhotra (2009)	Natural disasters	Voting for the incumbent	US county level electoral data, 1988-2004	Voters reward the incumbent presidential party for delivering disaster relief spending, but not for investing in disaster	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
					preparedness spending		
70.	Albrecht (2017)	Natural disasters	Political trust and satisfaction with the government	European Social Survey, 2001- 2017	Political trust and satisfaction with the government are largely not affected	No life-time period studied	Short-term effects
71.	Whitt and Wilson (2007)	Natural disasters	Cooperation in a public goods game	Evacuees from New Orleans relocated to Houston-area shelters	Increase in good cooperation	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
72.	Cassar et al. (2017)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion, pro- social behavior and patience	Experiments in rural Thailand after the 2004 tsunami	Increase in risk aversion, pro-social behavior, trust and impatience	No life-time periods studied	Four years after the disaster
73.	Cameron and Shah (2015)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion	1,550 individuals from 120 rural villages in East Java, 2008	Individuals who experienced a flood or earthquake exhibit more risk aversion	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
74.	Said et al. (2015)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion	Experiment and survey data	Individuals who live in areas affected by the 2010 flood in Pakistan are more risk averse, but personal experience of a flood mitigate the effects.	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects
75.	Chantarat et al. (2019)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion, altruism, impatience, trust of friend and local government	Survey conducted in 2014	Greater risk aversion and altruism, lower impatience and trust	No life-time periods studied	Short-term effects

	Authors	Shock	Preferences/beliefs	Main finding	Setting	Life period	Persistent/ contemporaneous effect
					of friends and local		
					government		
76.	Eckel et al. (2009)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion	Survey of	Women increase	No life-time	Short-term effects
				Katrina's	risk seeking	periods studied	
				evacuees, 2005,	behavior		
				2006			
77.	Brown et al. (2018)	Natural disasters	Risk aversion	259 Fijian	Increased future	No life-time	Short-term effects
				households from	expectations of	periods studied	
				14 rural villages	losses, but results		
					mediated by		
					ethnicity		

References

- Aassve, A., Alfani, G., Gandolfi, F., and Le Moglie, M. 2021. "Epidemics and trust: the case of the Spanish Flu." Health Economics 30 (4), 840–857.
- Abramitzky, R., Ben-Porath, N., Lavy, V. and M. Palgi. 2023. "Financial Crisis in a Socialist Setting: Impact on Political Behavior, Social Trust, and Economic Values." NBER WP 10918.
- Achen, C., and Bartels, L. 2017. "Blind retrospection: Electoral responses to droughts, floods, and shark attacks." in *Democracy for Realists*, by C. Achen and L. Bartels (eds.), 116–145, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University.
- Adhvaryu, A. and J. Fenske. 2023. "Conflict and the Formation of Political Beliefs in Africa." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 71 (2), 403–442.
- Akay, A., Bargain, O., & Elsayed, A. 2020. "Global terror, well-being and political attitudes." *European Economic Review*, 123, 103394.
- Aksoy, C. G., Eichengreen, B. and O. Saka. 2024. "The Political Scar of Epidemics." *The Economic Journal* 134 (660), 1683–1700.
- Aksoy, C. G., Eichengreen, B. and O. Saka. 2021. "Revenge of the Experts: Will Covid-19 Renew or Diminish Public Trust in Science?." *Journal of Public Economics* 193, 104343.
- Alacevich, C. and Zejcirovic, D. 2020. "Does Violence Against Civilians Depress Voter Turnout? Evidence from Bosnia and Herzegovina." *Journal of Comparative Economics* 48 (4), 841–865.
- Albrecht, F. 2017. "Government Accountability and Natural Disasters: The Impact of Natural Hazard Events on Political Trust and Satisfaction with Governments in Europe." *Risk, Hazards, & Crisis in Public Policy*, 8 (4), 381–410.
- Alesina, A. and N. Fuchs-Schündeln. 2007. "Goodbye Lenin (or Not?): The Effect of Communism on People." American Economic Review 97 (4): 1507–28.
- Alesina, A. and P. Giuliano. 2015. "Culture and Institutions." Journal of Economic Literature 53 (4), 898–944.
- Alesina, A. Murard. E. and H. Rapoport. 2021. "Immigration and Preferences for Redistribution in Europe." *Journal of Economic Geography* 21 (6), 925–954.
- Alesina, A. and M. Tabellini. 2024. "The Political Effects of Immigration: Culture or Economics?." *Journal of Economic Literature* 62 (1), 5–46.

- Algan, Yann, and Pierre Cahuc. 2010. "Inherited Trust and Growth." *American Economic Review* 100 (5), 2060–92.
- Algan, Y. and P. Cahuc. 2013. "Trust and Growth." Annual Review of Economics, 5, 521-549.
- Algan, Yann, and Pierre Cahuc. 2014a. "Trust and Growth." In *Handbook of Economic Growth*, Volume 2, edited by Philippe Aghion and Steven N. Durlauf. Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Algan, Y. and P. Cahuc. 2014b. "Trust, Well-Being and Growth: New Evidence and Policy Implications." Handbook of Economic Growth. Aghion, P. and S. Durlauf (eds.), Elsevier, 49–120.
- Algan, Y., Guriev, S., Papaioannou, E. and E. Passari. 2017. "The European Trust Crisis and the Rise of Populism." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 309–400.
- Allport, G. W., 1954. The Nature of Prejudice. Oxford, England: Addison-Wesley.
- Altemeyer, B. 1981. Right-wing authoritarianism. University of Manitoba Press.
- Ananyev, M. and S. Guriev. 2019. "The effect of income on trust: the evidence from 2009 crisis in Russia." *Economic Journal* 129 (619), 1082–1118.
- Anderson C. J. 2007. "The End of economic voting? Contingency dilemmas and the limits of democratic accountability." *Annual Review of Political Science* 10, 271–96.
- Autor, D., Dorn, D. and G. Hanson, 2013, "The China Syndrome: Local Labor Market Effects of Import Competition in the United States." *American Economic Review* 103 (6), 2121–68.
- Autor, D., Dorn, D., Hanson, G. and K. Majlesi, 2020, "Importing Political Polarization? The Electoral Consequences of Rising Trade Exposure." *American Economic Review* 110 (10), 3139–3183.
- Baccini, L., Brodeur, A., & Weymouth, S., 2021, "The COVID-19 pandemic and the 2020 US presidential election." *Journal of Population Economics* 34, 739–767.
- Ballard-Rosa, C., Malik, M. A., Rickard, S. J., & Scheve, K., 2021, "The economic origins of authoritarian values: evidence from local trade shocks in the United Kingdom." *Comparative political studies* 54 (13), 2321–2353.
- Barone, G., Ignazio, A., De Blasio, G., & Naticchioni, P. 2016 "Mr. Rossi, Mr. Hu and politics. The role of immigration in shaping native" voting behavior." *Journal of Public Economics* 136, 1-13.
- Barone, G and H. Kreuter. 2021. "Low-wage import competition and populist backlash: the case of Italy." *European Journal of Political Economy*, 67, 101970.
- Barsbai, T., Rapoport, H., Steinmayr, A., and Trebesch, C. 2017. "The effect of labor migration on the diffusion of democracy evidence from a former Soviet Republic." *American Economic Journal Applied Economics* 9 (3), 36–69.

- Bauer, M., C. Blattman, J. Chytilova, J. Henrich, E. Miguel, and T. Mitts, 2016, "Can war foster cooperation?." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 30 (3), 249–274.
- Bauer, Michal, Alessandra Cassar, Julie Chytilová, and Joseph Henrich. 2014. "War's Enduring Effects on the Development of Egalitarian Motivations and In-Group Biases." *Psychological Science* 25 (1), 47–57.
- Bauer, M., J. Cahlikova, J. Chytilova, G. Roland, and T. Zelinsky. 2021. "Shifting Punishment on Minorities: Experimental Evidence on Scapegoating." NBER WP 29157.
- Becker, S. O., and Fetzer, T. 2017. "Does migration cause extreme voting." Center for Competitive Advantage in the Global Economy and The Economic & Social Research Council, 1–54.
- Benabou, Roland. 2008. "Ideology." Journal of the European Economic Association 6 (2-3), 321-52.
- Berrebi, C., Klor, E. F. 2008. "Are voters sensitive to terrorism? Direct evidence from the Israeli electorate." American Political Science Review 102 (3), 279–301.
- Berman, N., Brey, B. and J. Laurent-Lucchetti. 2023. "Panic Politics on the US West Coast." CEPR DP 17874.
- Besley, T. and M. Reynal-Querol. 2014. "The Legacy of Historical Conflict: Evidence from Africa." *American Political Science Review*, 108 (2), 319–336.
- Bietenbeck, J., U. Sunde and P. Thiemann. 2023. "Recession Experiences Shape Prosocial Attitudes." University of Lund, mimeo.
- Bol, D., M. Giani, A. Blais, A. and P.J. Loewen. 2021. "The effect of COVID-19 lockdowns on political support: Some good news for democracy?." *European Journal of Political Research* 60 (2), 497–505.
- Bonomi, G., Gennaioli, N. and G. Tabellini. 2021. "Identity, Beliefs and Political Conflict." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 136 (4), 2371–2411.
- Botsch, M. and U. Malmendier. 2020. "The Long Shadows of the Great Inflation: Evidence from Residential Mortgages." UC Berkeley, mimeo.
- Bourdieu, P. 1993. "Youth' is just a word.", in: Bordieu, P. *Sociology in Question,* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 94-102.
- Braungart, Margaret M. 1984. "Aging and Politics." Journal of Political and Military Sociology, 12 (1), 79-98.
- Brim, O. G. and J. Kagan. 1980. Constancy and Change in Human Development. Harvard University Press.
- Brouard, S., Vasilopoulos, P. and M. Foucault. 2018. "How terrorism affects political attitudes: France in the aftermath of the 2015–2016 attacks." *West European Politics*, 41 (5), 1073–1099.
- Brown, P., A. Daigneault, E. Tjenstrom and W. Zou. 2018. "Natural Disasters, social protection, and risk perceptions." *World Development* 104, 310–325.

- Bursztyn, L., Chaney, T., Hassan, T. and A. Rao. 2024. "The Immigrant Next Door." *American Economic Review* 114 (2), 348–84.
- Bursztyn, L., Egorov, G., Haaland, I., Rao, A., & Roth, C. 2022. "Scapegoating during crises." *American Economic Association Papers and Proceedings* 112, 151–155.
- Bursztyn, L., Egorov, G., Haaland, I., Rao, A., & Roth, C. 2023. "Justifying dissent." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 138 (3), 1403–1451.
- Callen, M., Isaqzadeh, M., Long, J. D. and C. Sprenger. 2014. "Violence and Risk Preference: Experimental Evidence from Afghanistan." *American Economic Review*, 104 (1), 123–48.
- Cameron, L. and M. Shah, 2015, "Risk-Taking Behavior in the Wake of Natural Disasters." *Journal of Human Resources*, 50 (2), 484–515.
- Campante, F., Depetris-Chauvin, E. and R. Durante, 2024, "The Virus of Fear: The Political Impact of Ebola in the U.S.", *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 16 (1), 480–509.
- Card, D., 2001, "Immigrant inflows, native outflows, and the local labor market impacts of higher immigration." *Journal of Labor Economics*, 19 (1), 22–64.
- Cao, Y., Enke, B., Falk, A., Giuliano, P. and N. Nunn, 2021, "Herding, Warfare, and a Culture of Honor: Global Evidence." NBER WP 29250.
- Carreri, M. and E. Teso, 2023, "Economic Recessions and Congressional Preferences for Redistribution." *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 105 (3), 723–732.
- Cassar, A., Grosjean, P. and Whitt, S., 2013, "Legacies of Violence: Trust and Market Development." *Journal of Economic Growth*, 18 (3), 285–318.
- Cassar, A., Healy, A. and C. von Kessler, 2017, "Trust, Risk, and Time Preferences After a Natural Disaster: Experimental Evidence from Thailand." *World Development*, 94, 90–105.
- Chantarat, S., Oum, S., Samphantharak, K. and V. Sann, 2019, "Natural Disasters, Preferences, and Behaviors: Evidence from the 2011 Mega Flood in Cambodia." *Journal of Asian Economics*, 63, 44–74.
- Cogley, T. and T. Sargent, 2008, "The Market Price of Risk and the Equity Premium: A Legacy of the Great Depression." *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 55 (3), 454–476.
- Colantone I, Stanig P., 2018a, "Global competition and Brexit." *American Political Science Review*, 112(2), 201–18.
- Colantone I, Stanig P., 2018b, "The economic determinants of the "cultural backlash": globalization and attitudes in Western Europe." BAFFI CAREFIN Cent. Res. Pap. 2018–91, Bocconi Univ., Milan, Italy.
- Colantone, I., & Stanig, P., 2018c, "The trade origins of economic nationalism: Import competition and voting behavior in Western Europe." *American Journal of Political Science*, 62 (4), 936–953.

- Conzo, P., Salustri, F., 2019, "A war is forever: The long-run effects of early exposure to World War II on trust." *European Economic Review*, 120, 103313.
- Cotofan, M., Cassar, L., Dur, R. and S. Meier, 2023, "Macroeconomic Conditions When Young Shape Job Preferences for Life." *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 105 (2), 467–473.
- Cotofan, M., Dur, R. and S. Meier, 2024, "Does growing up in a recession increase compassion? The case of attitudes toward immigration." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 218, 245–262.
- Cutler, D., W. Huang and A. Lleras-Muney, 2015, "When Does Education Matter? The Protective Effect of Education for Cohorts Graduating in Bad Times.", *Social Science & Medicine*, 127, 63–73.
- D'Acunto, F., Ospina, J., Malmendier, U. and M. Weber, 2021a, "Exposure to Grocery Prices and Inflation Expectations." *Journal of Political Economy*, 129 (5), 1615–1639.
- D'Acunto, F., Ospina, J., Malmendier, U. and M. Weber, 2021b, "Gender Roles Produce Divergent Economic Expectations." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 118 (21).
- De Bromhead, A., B. Eichengreen and K. H. O' Rourke, 2013, "Political Extremism in the 1920s and 1930s: Do German Lessons Generalize?." *Journal of Economic History*, 73 (2), 371–406.
- De Luca, G. and M. Verpoorten, 2015, "Civil war and political participation: Evidence from Uganda." *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 64 (1), 113–141.
- Dennis, W., 1973, Children of the Creche, Appleton-Century-Croft.
- Dippel, C., Gold, R., Heblich, S., and Pinto, R. (2022), "The effect of trade on workers and voters." *The Economic Journal*, 132 (641), 199–217.
- Easton, D. and J. Dennis, 1969, *Children in the Political System: Origins of Political Legitimacy,* New York, McGraw-Hill.
- Echebarria-Echabe, A. and E. *Fernández-Guede*, 2006, "Effects of terrorism on attitudes and ideological orientation." *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 36 (2), 259–265.
- Eckel, C., M. El-Gamal and R. Wilson, 2009, "Risk loving after the storm: A Bayesian-Network study of Hurricane Katrina evacuees." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 69, 110–124.
- Enders, W. and T. Sandler, 2012, *The Political Economy of Terrorism*. ²ⁿd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Enke, Benjamin, Mattias Polborn, and Alex A. Wu, 2022, "Values as Luxury Goods and Political Behavior." NBER WP 30001
- Falk, Armin, Anke Becker, Thomas Dohmen, Benjamin Enke, David Huffman, and Uwe Sunde, 2018, "Global Evidence on Economic Preferences." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133 (4), 1645–1692.

- Feigenbaum, J. J., & Hall, A. B., 2015, "How legislators respond to localized economic shocks: evidence from Chinese import competition." *The Journal of Politics*, 77 (4), 1012–1030.
- Ferrara, F. M., 2023, "Why Does Import Competition Favor Republicans? Localize Trade Shocks and Cultural Backlash in the United States." *Review of International Political Economy*, 30 (2), 678–701.
- Feyrer, J., 2019, "Trade and Income-Exploiting Time Series in Geography." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 11 (4), 1–35.
- Fiedler, C. and C. Rohles, 2021, "Social cohesion after armed conflict." DIE, German Development Institute, DP 7/2021, ISSN (online) 2512–8698.
- Finseraas, H. and O. Listhaug, 2013, "It can happen here: the impact of the Mumbai terror attacks on public opinion in Western Europe." *Public Choice*, 156 (1/2), 213–228.
- Fisman, R., P. Jakiela and S. Kariv, 2015, "How did distributional preferences change during the Great Recession?." *Journal of Public Economics*, 128, 84–95.
- Fluckiger, M., M. Ludwig and A. Sina Onder, 2019, "Ebola and State Legitimacy." *Economic Journal*, 129 (621), 2064–2089.
- Fontana, N., Nannicini, T. and G. Tabellini, 2023, "Historical Roots of Political Extremism: The Effects of Nazi Occupation of Italy." *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 51, 723–743.
- Franchino, Fabio, 2014, "The Social Bases of Nuclear Energy Policies in Europe: Ideology, Proximity, Belief Updating and Attitudes to Risk." *European Journal of Political Research*, 53 (2), 213–233.
- Frankel, J. A. and D. Romer, 1999, "Does Trade Cause Growth?." *Journal of International Economics*, 48 (1), 7–35.
- Frey, U. and R. G. Morris. 1997. "Synaptic tagging and long-term potentiation.", Nature, 385, 533-536.
- Friedman, M. and A. Schwartz, 1963, "A Monetary History of the United States, 1867–1960." Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Funke, M., Schularick, M. and C. Trebesh, 2016, "Going to extremes: Politics after financial crises, 1870–2014.", *European Economic Review*, 88, 227–260.
- Gehring, K., 2022, "Can External Threats Foster a European Union Identity? Evidence from Russia's Invasion of Ukraine." *Economic Journal*, 132 (644), 1489–1516.
- Getmansky, A., Zeitzoff, T., 2014, "Terrorism and voting: the effect of rocket threat on voting in Israeli elections." *American Political Science Review*, 108 (3), 588–660.
- Gilligan, M. J., B. J. Pasquale, and C. Samii, 2014, "Civil war and social cohesion: Lab-in-the-field evidence from Nepal." *American Journal of Political Science*, 58 (3), 604–619.

- Giuliano, P. and I. Rasul, 2020, "Compliance with social distancing during the Covid-19 crisis.", voxeu, June 18, 2020.
- Giuliano, P. and A. Spilimbergo, 2014, "Growing Up in a Recession." *The Review of Economic Studies*, 81 (2), 787–817
- Giuliano, P. and A. Spilimbergo, 2023a, "Retraction of Growing up in a Recession." *The Review of Economic Studies*, 90(2), 1009.
- Giuliano, P. and A. Spilimbergo, 2023b, "Recession, Lifetime Experiences and the Formation of Political Beliefs." UCLA mimeo.
- Giuliano, P. and M. Tabellini, 2023, "The Seeds of Ideology: Historical Immigration and Political Preferences in the United States." NBER WP 27238.
- Glenn, N.D., 1980, "Values, Attitudes and Beliefs." in O.G. Brim and Kagan, J. (eds) *Constancy and Change in Human Development*, Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Gneezy, Ayelet, and Daniel M. T. Fessler., 2012. "Conflict, Sticks and Carrots: War Increases Prosocial Punishments and Rewards." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 279 (1727), 219–33.
- Golder M. 2016. "Far right parties in Europe." Annual Review of Political Science, 19, 477–97.
- Gould, E. and E. Klor, 2010, "Does Terrorism Work?." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 125 (4), 1459–1510.
- Graham, John, and Krishna Narasimhan, 2004, "Corporate survival and managerial experiences during the Great Depression." Working paper, Duke University.
- Greenstein, F. I., 1965, Children and Politics, New Haven and London: Yale University Press.
- Grossman, G. and E. Helpman, 2021, "Identity Politics and Trade Policy." *The Review of Economic Studies*, 8 (3), 1101–1126.
- Guiso, L., H. Herrera, M. Morelli and T. Sonno, 2024, "Economic Insecurity and the Demand of Populism in Europe." *Economica*, 91 (362), 588–620.
- Guiso, L. Sapienza, P. and L. Zingales, 2006, "Does Culture Affect Economic Outcomes?." *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20 (2), 23–48.
- Guiso, Luigi, Paola Sapienza, and Luigi Zingales. 2008. "Social Capital as Good Culture." *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 6 (2–3), 295–320.
- Guiso, L, P Sapienza and L Zingales, 2016, "Long-Term Persistence." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 14 (6): 1401–1436.

- Guriev, S. and E. Papaioannou, 2022, "The Political Economy of Populism." *Journal of Economic Literature*, 60 (3), 753–832.
- Hadzic, D., D. Carlson, and M. Tavits, 2020, "How exposure to violence affects ethnic voting." *British Journal of Political Science*, 50 (1), 345–362.
- Halla, M., Wagner, A. F., & Zweimüller, J., 2017, "Immigration and voting for the far right." *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 15 (6), 1341–1385.
- Healy, A., & Malhotra, N., 2009, "Myopic voters and natural disaster policy." *American Political Science Review*, 103(3), 387–406.
- Hess, R. and J. Torney, 1967, The Development of Political Attitudes in Children, Chicago: Aldine.
- Hertwig, Ralph, Greg Barron, Elke U Weber, and Ido Erev, 2004, "Decisions from Experience and the Effect of Rare Events in Risky Choice." *Psychological Science*, 15 (8), 534–539.
- Hibbs DA. 1977. "Political parties and macroeconomic policy." *American Political Science Review*, 71 (4), 1467–87.
- Hobolt SB, Tilley J. 2016. "Fleeing the centre: the rise of challenger parties in the aftermath of the euro crisis." *West European Politics*, 39, 971–91.
- Inglehart, R., 1977, *The Silent Revolution: Changing Values and Political Styles*. Princeton N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Inglehart, Ronald. 1990. Culture Shift in Advanced Industrial Society. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Kibris, A., 2011, "Funerals and elections: the effects of terrorism on voting behavior in Turkey." *Journal of Conflict Resolutions*, 55 (2), 220–247.
- Korpi, W. 1983. The Democratic Class Struggle. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Krosnick, J. and D. Alwin, 1989, "Aging and susceptibility to attitude change." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57 (3), 416–425.
- Laudenbach, C., Malmendier, U. and A. Niessen-Ruenzi, 2019, "Emotional Tagging and Belief Formation-The Long-Lasting Effects of Experiencing Communism.", *American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings*, 109, 567–571.
- Lazarev, E., Sobolev, A., Soboleva, I. V., & Sokolov, B., 2014, "Trial by fire: a natural Disaster's impact on support for the authorities in rural Russia." *World politics*, 66 (4), 641–668.
- Loewenstein, G. and E. Angner, 2003, "Economic and Psychological Perspectives on Intertemporal Choices." in *Time and decision: Economic and Psychological Perspectives on Intertemporal Choice*, Russell Sage Foundation Press, New York, 351–391.

- Luttmer, Erzo F. P., and Monica Singhal., 2011. "Culture, Context, and the Taste for Redistribution." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 3 (1): 157–79.
- Malgouyres C., 2017, "Trade shocks and far-right voting: evidence from French presidential elections." Robert Schuman Center for Advanced Studies WP 2017/21, European University Institute, Florence, Italy.
- Malmendier, U., 2021a, "Exposure, Experience, and Expertise: Why Personal Histories Matter in Economics." Journal of the European Economic Association, 19 (6), 2857–2894.
- Malmendier, U., 2021b, "Experience Effects in Finance: Foundations, Applications, and Future Directions." *Review of Finance*, 25 (5), 1339–1363.
- Malmendier, U. and S. Nagel, 2011, "Depression Babies: Do Macroeconomic Experiences Affect Risk-Taking?." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 126 (1), 373–416.
- Malmendier, U. and S. Nagel. 2016. "Learning from Inflation Experiences." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 131 (1), 53–87.
- Malmendier, U., S. Nagel, and Z.Yan. 2021. "The making of hawks and doves." *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 117, 19–42.
- Malmendier, U. and L. Sheng Shen, 2024, "Scarred Consumption." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 16 (1), 322–55.
- Malmendier, U. and A. Steiny Wellsjo, 2020, "Rent or Buy? The Role of Lifetime Experiences on Homeownership within and across Countries." CEPR DP 14935.
- Malmendier, U., Tate, G., 2005, "CEO Overconfidence and Corporate Investment." *Journal of Finance* 60, 2661–2700.
- Mannheim, Karl, 1952. "The Problem of Generations." 276-322 in *Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge*, by Karl Mannheim. London: Routledge and Kegal Paul.
- Margalit, Y., 2012, "Lost in Globalization: Economic Integration and the Politics of Discontent." *International Studies Quarterly*, 2012, 56 (3), 484–500.
- Margalit Y, 2019, "Political Responses to Economic Shocks", Annual Review of Political Science, 22, 277-295.
- Mayda, A. M., Peri, G. and W. Steingress, 2022, "The Political Impact of Immigration: Evidence from the United States", *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 14 (1), 358–89.
- Meltzer, A. H. and S.F. Richard, 1981, "A Rational Theory of the Size of Government," *Journal of Political Economy*, 89 (5), 914–27.
- Mendez, I., & Cutillas, I. M., 2014, "Has immigration affected Spanish presidential elections results." *Journal of Population Economics*, 27, 135–171.

- Mian, A., Sufi, A. and F. Trebbi, 2014, "Resolving Debt Overhang: Political Constraints in the Aftermath of Financial Crises." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 6 (2), 1–28.
- Montalvo, J., 2011, "Voting after the Bombing: A Natural Experiment on the Effect of Terrorist Attacks on Democratic Elections." *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 93 (4), 1146–1154.
- Mueller J.E., 1973, "War, Presidents, and Public Opinion.", New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Newcomb, T., K. Koenig, R. Flacks and D. Warwick, 1967, *Persistence and change: Bennington College and its students after 25 years*, New York: Wiley.
- Nisbett, Richard E and Lee Ross, 1980, *Human Inference: Strategies and Shortcomings of Social Judgment*. Prentice Hall.
- Oreopoulos, P., von Wachter, T. and A. Heisz, 2012, "The Short- and Long-Term Career Effects of Graduating in a Recession." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 4 (1), 1–29.
- Otto, A. H., & Steinhardt, M. F., 2014, "Immigration and election outcomes—Evidence from city districts in Hamburg." *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 45, 67–79.
- Pérez-Armendáriz, C., and Crow, D., 2010, "Do migrants remit democracy? International migration, political beliefs, and behavior in Mexico." *Comparative political studies*, 43 (1), 119–148.
- Perrin, A. and S. Smolek, 2009, "Who Trusts? Race, Gender, and the September 11 Rally Effect among Young Adults." *Social Science Research*, 38 (1), 134–145.
- Pfutze, T., 2012, "Does migration promote democratization? Evidence from the Mexican transition." *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 40 (2), 159–175.
- Rees-Jones, A., D'Attoma, J., Piolatto, A and L. Salvadori, 2022, "Experience of the COVID-19 pandemic and support for safety-net expansion." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 200, 1090–1104.
- Richter-Levin, G., and I. Akirav. 2003. "Emotional tagging of memory formation in the search for neural mechanisms." *Brain Research Reviews*, 43, 247–256.
- Rodrik, D., 2021, "Why Does Globalization Fuel Populism: Economics, Culture, and the Rise of Right-Wing Populism." *Annual Review of Economics*, 13, 133–170.
- Rohner, D., Thoenig, M. and Zilibotti, F., 2013, "Seeds of Distrust: Conflict in Uganda." *Journal of Economic Growth*, 18 (3), 217–252.
- Roth, C., Settele, S. and J. Wohlfart, 2022, "Beliefs about public debt and the demand for government spending." *Journal of Econometrics*, 231 (1), 165–187.
- Said, F., Afzal, U and G. Turner, 2015, "Risk taking and risk learning after a rare event: Evidence from a field experiment in Pakistan." *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 118, 167–183.
- Sartori, G., 1976, Parties and Party Systems. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Schlozman KL, Verba S. 1979. *Insult to Injury: Unemployment, Class, and Political Response*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press.
- Schüller, S., 2015, "The 9/11 conservative shift." Economic Letters, 135, 80-84.
- Schuman, H. and J. Scott, 1989, "Generations and Collective Memories." *American Sociological Review*, 54 (3), 359–381.
- Sears, David, 1975, "Political Socialization." *Handbook of Political Science*, ed. F I. Greenstein, and N. W. Polsby, vol. 2, 93–153. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Sears, David, 1981, "Life Stage Effects upon Attitude Change, Especially among the Elderly." *Aging: Social Change*, ed. S. B. Kiesler, J. N. Morgan, and V K. Oppenheimer, 183–204. New York: Academic Press.
- Sears, David, 1983, "The Persistence of Early Political Predispositions: The Roles of Attitude Object and Life Stage." *Review of Personality and Social Psychology*, ed. L. Wheeler and P. Shaver, vol. 4, 79–116. Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Settele, S., 2022, "How Do Beliefs about the Gender Wage Gap Affect the Demand for Public Policy?." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 14 (2), 475–508.
- Shayo, M., 2009, "A Model of Social Identity with an Application to Political Economy: Nation, Class, and Redistribution.", 103 (2), *American Political Science Review*, 147–194.
- Simonsohn, Uri, Niklas Karlsson, George Loewenstein, and Dan Ariely, 2008, "The Tree of Experience in the Forest of Information: Overweighing Experienced Relative to Observed Information." *Games and Economic Behavior*, 62 (1), 263–286.
- Spilerman, S., & Stecklov, G., 2009, "Societal responses to terrorist attacks." *Annual Review of Sociology*, 35(1), 167–189.
- Steiner, N. D., & Harms, P., 2023, "Trade shocks and the nationalist backlash in political attitudes: panel data evidence from Great Britain." *Journal of European Public Policy*, 30 (2), 271–290.
- Stevenson, B. and J. Wolfers, 2011, "Trust in Public Institutions over the Business Cycle." *American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings*, 101 (3): 281–287.
- Stigler, G. and G. Becker, 1977, "De Gustibus Non Est Disputandum." *American Economic Review,* 67 (2), 76–90.
- Strain, M.R., Veuger, S.A., 2022, "Economic shocks and clinging." *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 40 (3), 456–475.
- Tabellini, M., 2020, "Gifts of the Immigrants, Woes of the Natives: Lessons from the Age of Mass Migration." *The Review of Economic Studies*, 87 (1), 454–486.

- Tabellini, M. and G. Magistretti, forthcoming, "Economic Integration and the Transmission of Democracy." Journal of Political Economy
- Talarico, J.M., LaBar, K.S., and D.C. Rubin. 2004. "Emotional intensity predicts autobiographical memory experience." *Memory and Cognition*, 32, 1118–1132.
- Thal, Adam, 2017. "Class Isolation and Affluent Americans' Perception of Social Conditions." *Political Behavior*, 39(2), 401–424.
- Tur-Prats, A. and F. Valencia Caicedo, 2020, "The Long Shadow of the Spanish Civil War." CEPR DP 15091.
- Viskanic, M., 2021. "Fear and Loathing on the Campaign Trail: Did Immigration Cause Brexit?." Sciences Po, mimeo.
- Von Wachter, T., 2020, "The Persistent Effects of Initial Labor Market Conditions for Young Adult and Their Sources." *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 34 (4), 168–194
- Voors, M., Nillesen, E. E. M., Verwimp, P. Bulte, E. H., Lensik, R. and D. P. Van Soest, 2012, "Violent Conflict and Behavior: A Field Experiment in Burundi." *American Economic Review*, 102 (2), 941–64.
- Weber, Elke U, Ulf Bockenholt, Denis J Hilton, and Brian Wallace, 1993, "Determinants of Diagnostic Hypothesis Generation: Effects of Information, Base Rates, and Experience." *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 19 (5), 1151.
- Whitt, S. and R.K. Wilson, 2007, "Public goods in the field: Katrina evacuees in Houston", *Southern Economic Journal*, 74 (2), 377–387.

